
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Mackey

AGENDA October 21, 2015

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Mackey

Minutes Recessed Meeting - September 30, 2015

Minutes Agenda Session - September 30, 2015

Minutes Regular Meeting - October 6, 2015

Report Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon October 12, 2015

Res. No. 1015-25 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, and oaths of Deputy Sheriffs.

Res. No. 1015-26 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to accept a U.S. Department of Homeland Security
2015 Port Security Grant and amending the capital budget of the Sheriff’s Office by adding
$95,025 to revenues and $126,700 expenditures.

Res. No. 1015-27 A Resolution accepting a U.S. Department of Justice grant and to amend the Sheriff’s operating
budget by increasing revenues and expenditures by $19,859, pursuant to the grant terms, the
funds may be used for correction purposes only.

Res. No. 1015-28 A Resolution accepting the bid of On Duty Depot for one (1) year contract unit pricing, beginning
October 21, 2015 through October 20, 2016, for vehicle computer cradles for the Sheriff’s Office
and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-29A A Resolution to rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District to C-2 Local Business Commercial
District, property located at 8228 Harrison Bay Road.

Res. No. 1015-29B A Resolution to rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District to C-2 Local Business Commercial
District, property located at 8228 Harrison Bay Road.

Res. No. 1015-30A A Resolution to rezone from M-2 Wholesale and Light Industry District to R-3
Apartment-Townhouse District, property located at 6849 Mountain View Road.

Res. No. 1015-30B A Resolution to rezone from M-2 Wholesale and Light Industry District to R-3
Apartment-Townhouse District, property located at 6849 Mountain View Road.

Res. No. 1015-31 A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for the Revision of a Residential Planned
Unit Development on property located at 1521 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1015-32 A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for the Revision of a Residential Planned
Unit Development on property located at 1521 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1015-33 A Resolution making an appropriation to ArtsBuild in the amount of Fifteen Thousand Dollars
($15,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District Eight.

Res. No. 1015-34 A Resolution accepting the unit price bids of Telesource Services, LLC, Synergy Telecom, Inc.,
and Tel-XL for Nortel Telephone Equipment for the period beginning November 19, 2015
through November 18, 2016 for the Telecommunications Department and to authorize the
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-35 A Resolution accepting the bid of Don Ledford Auto Park for model year contract unit pricing for
fleet staff sedans for Hamilton County and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts
necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-36 A Resolution to amend the County General Fund expenditure budget from previously
unbudgeted funds by appropriating $11,388.89 to the 28th Community Development Corporation
to assist them in paying County property taxes and applicable fees and penalties for tax years
2011-2014.



Res. No. 1015-37 A Resolution to amend Resolution No. 915-30, as previously adopted by this County Legislative
Body, and to adopt the corrected Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM), as associated with The
National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), for the unincorporated areas of Hamilton County,
Tennessee.

Res. No. 1015-38 A Resolution accepting the bid of Dillard Construction, Inc. for construction of the Sale Creek
Middle / High School Addition amounting to $10,499,029.00 and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-39 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement with
Terracon Consultants, Inc. for construction and special inspection testing necessary for the
construction of the Sale Creek Middle/High School Addition for an amount not to exceed
$54,000.00 of previously budgeted funds.

Res. No. 1015-40 A Resolution accepting the bids of Henry Schein, Inc., Midwest Medical Supply Company, LLC,
Moore Medical, LLC, and Buy Indian Medical for contract unit pricing, beginning November 7,
2015, through November 6, 2016, for Laboratory Supplies for the Chattanooga / Hamilton
County Health Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-41 A Resolution accepting the bids of Roll-Aid Industrial Supply, School Specialty, Inc. and Quill
Corporation for contract unit pricing, beginning November 7, 2015, through November 6, 2016,
for general office supplies for the Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-42 A Resolution accepting the bids of Act Business Machines, Inc. and Xpedx for contract unit
pricing, beginning November 7, 2015, through November 6, 2016, for printing and paper
supplies for the Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-43 A Resolution accepting the bids of Henry Schein, Roll-Aid Industrial Supply, Midwest Medical
Supply Company, LLC, Moore Medical, LLC, and Kelsan, Inc. for contract unit pricing, beginning
November 7, 2015, through November 6, 2016, for infection control supplies for the
Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign
any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-44 A Resolution accepting the bid of Auto Nation Ford of Marietta for one (1) fifteen passenger van
amounting to $28,299.00 for the Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-45 A Resolution authorizing the appointment of a representative to the Hamilton County Community
Corrections Advisory Board.

Res. No. 1015-46 A Resolution accepting the bid of Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for two (2) Type I Medium
Duty Ambulances amounting to $385,698.00 for Emergency Medical Services and authorizing
the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-47 A Resolution for Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department to sell a 1998 Ford E-350 van which is
co-titled with Hamilton County Government and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any
documents necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-48 A Resolution for Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department to sell a 1991 Ford E-350 ambulance
which is co-titled with Hamilton County Government and authorizing the County Mayor to sign
any documents necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-49 A Resolution accepting the bid of Auto Nation Chevrolet Northpoint for two (2) heavy duty cargo
vans amounting to $49,622.00 for the Maintenance Department and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-50 A Resolution accepting the bid of Don Ledford Auto Park, LLC for one (1) full size sedan
amounting to $18,150.00 for the Corrections Department and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1015-51 A Resolution making an appropriation to Chattanooga Boys Choir in the amount of One
Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies, as allotted to District
Nine.

Res. No. 1015-52 A Resolution making an appropriation to Hamilton County Special Tactics and Rescue Services
(STARS) in the amount of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund
discretionary monies, as allotted to District Nine.



Res. No. 1015-53 A Resolution adopting a policy providing for Independent External Investigations into Allegations
of Negligence or Misconduct committed by officials, employees, and/or contractors of  the
Hamilton County Medical Examiner’s Office, as they relate to grants received by Hamilton
County under the Paul Coverdell Forensic Science Improvement Grants Program.

Res. No. 1015-54 A Resolution to make certain findings relating to the McKee Foods Corporation Project, to
delegate certain authority to the Industrial Development Board of Hamilton County, Tennessee
and to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and execute an agreement for payments in lieu
of ad valorem taxes.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  September 30, 2015 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 30th day of September, 2015, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston. Total present – 9.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks asked County Clerk Bill Knowles to give the invocation. 

After prayer Commissioner Fairbanks led in the pledge to the flag. 

 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 

2 
 

Chairman Bankston announced that there was not any scheduled business for 

the Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

 

     Respectfully submitted: 

      

     ______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

Approved: 
 
 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  September 30, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 30th day of September, 2015, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman 

Bankston.  Total present - 9.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 2

PRESENTATION - CERTIFICATE OF CONGRATULATIONS – DR. WARREN 

MACKEY, PRESIDENT OF TENNESSEE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

ASSOCIATION (TCCA). 

 

 Chairman Bankston presented a proclamation to Commissioner Mackey who had 

recently served as the 2014-2015 TCCA President.  

 

 Several Commissioners noted Commissioner Mackey’s accomplishments and 

extended heartfelt thanks for his invaluable service.   

 

PRESENTATION – MOCCASIN BEND NATIONAL ARCHEOLOGICAL DISTRICT 

 

 Chickamauga and Chattanooga National Military Park Superintendent Brad 

Bennett made a presentation about the preliminary alternatives for management of the 

Moccasin Bend National Archeological District (Moccasin Bend). The planning effort will 

amend the 1988 General Management Plan of Chickamauga and Chattanooga National 

Military Park to guide decisions about future natural and cultural resource conditions, as 

well as visitor experience opportunities on Moccasin Bend.  Mr. Bennett briefly 

described the concept and general actions for alternatives A through D. Information 

packets were distributed to the Mayor, the commission, and the Clerk’s office. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 3

 

 When the planning process is completed, this amended general management 

plan will help guide the National Park Service’s decision making for Moccasin Bend for 

the next 20 years. The National Park Service is now seeking the community’s thoughts, 

suggestions, and comments on the four alternatives provided.  

 

 The park will host the first of two public meeting on Tuesday, October 20, 2015 

from 3 pm through 6 pm at the gateway site to Moccasin Bend National Archeological 

District on Hamm Road. The second public meeting will take place on Thursday, 

October 22, 2015, from 4 pm through 7 pm at Outdoor Chattanooga. 

 

 There were no questions or comments by members of the Commission. 

Chairman Bankston thanked Mr. Bennett for making today’s presentation. 

  

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

 The Criminal Court Clerk’s report for July 2015 would be submitted for the 
record. 

 The Trustee’s Excess Fee Report and Monthly Report for August 2015 would be 
submitted for the record. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 4

 The Juvenile Court Clerk’s report for July 2015 would be submitted for the 
record. 

 Resolution No. 1015-1 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc. 
This required no committee assignment.  

 Resolution Nos. 1015-2, 1015-3, 1015-4 and 1015-6 through 1015-20 were 
heard by a Committee of the Whole. 

 Resolution Nos. 1015-5 and 1015-21 through 1015-23 were assigned to the 
Finance Committee, chaired by Commissioner Boyd. 

 Resolution No. 1015-24 was assigned to the Roads Committee, chaired by 
Commissioner Haynes.  
 

Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 1015-5 and 1015-21 through 

1015-23 would now be heard by the Committee of the Whole.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-2 

 

Chairman Bankston spoke regarding this Resolution, which appoints 

Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Mackey, and Chairman Bankston to the Hamilton 

County Audit Committee for a term expiring September 30, 2016. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 5

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-3 

 

Chairman Bankston spoke regarding this Resolution, which appoints Dewayne 

Woodall and reappoints James Walker and C. Alan Roderick to the Hamilton County 

Board of Electrical Examiners, terms ending September 7, 2019. 

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-4 

 

 Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this Resolution, which appoints Lee Ortwein to 

the Hamilton County Community Corrections Advisory Board, term ending October 6, 

2017. He noted District Attorney Neal Pinkston highly recommended Mr. Ortwein’s 

appointment. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-6 

 

 Commissioner Beck spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates one 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district five, to 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 6

the Harrison Recreational Booster Club. He noted the funds will assist with recreation 

equipment purchases.  

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-7 

 

 Commissioner Fields spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates thirty 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district two, to 

Walden’s Ridge Emergency Services. He noted the funds will assist with training and 

the purchase of equipment. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-8 

 

 Chairman Bankston spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates ten 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district nine, to 

Orange Grove Center. He noted the funds will be used to assist with remodeling 

expenses. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 7

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-9 

 

 Commissioner Smedley spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates ten 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district seven, to 

Orange Grove Center. She noted the funds would assist with remodeling and recycling 

expenses. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-10 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates ten 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district four, to 

Orange Grove Center. He noted the funds would assist with the purchase of equipment 

to process glass. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 8

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-11 

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates three 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district four, to 

Highland Park Neighborhood Association. He noted the funds would assist with 

improvements at Shaw Park.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-12 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates six 

thousand dollars from discretionary bond funds, as allotted to district four, to Sculpture 

Fields at Montague Park. He noted the funds would assist with the purchase of 

materials for the fallen service men sculpture contracted and built by Peter Lundberg at 

the U.S. Naval and Marine Reserve Center on Amnicola Highway. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners.  

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 9

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-13 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates two 

thousand five hundred dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to 

district four, to Southeast Tennessee Health Consortium. He noted the funds would 

assist with the Youth Blast Conference 2015. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-14 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates three 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district four, to 

Stop the Madness National, Inc. He noted the funds would assist with the Summer 

Youth Enrichment Camp.  

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 10

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-15 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates one 

thousand dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to district four, to 

Churchville Neighborhood Association, Inc. He noted the funds would assist with the 

National Night Out Event.  

 

 There were no questions from the Commission. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-16 

 

 Commissioner Mackey spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates one 

thousand five hundred dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to 

district four, to Community Foundation of Greater Chattanooga, Inc. He noted the funds 

will assist with the organization’s endeavor to provide funding for the Lincoln Park 

Annual Community Event. 

 

 There were no questions from the Commission. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 11

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-17 

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates 

eleven thousand three hundred fifty dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as 

allotted to district one, to the City of Soddy Daisy. He noted the funds will assist with 

repairs at Veterans Memorial Park. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-18 

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks spoke regarding this Resolution, which appropriates six 

thousand four hundred dollars from general fund discretionary monies, as allotted to 

district one, to Bakewell Community Center. He noted the funds would assist with 

building renovations. 

 

 There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 12

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-19 

 

 Dan Saieed, Director of Development spoke regarding this Resolution, which 

authorizes the County Mayor to submit a Fasttrack economic development grant 

application to the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community Development in 

an amount not to exceed $5.5 million to assist GeStamp Chattanooga, LLC with 

equipment and building improvements to support the expansion of the company’s 

Hamilton County operations.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields question, it was noted no local match is 

required. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1015-20 

 

 Steve Hiatt, Director of Existing Business Development for the Chattanooga Area 

Chamber of Commerce spoke regarding this Resolution, which (I) makes certain 

findings relating to the expansion of an existing manufacturing facility located in the 

Enterprise South Industrial Park to be constructed, equipped and operated by GeStamp 

Chattanooga, LLC on property located at 4120 Jersey Pike, (II) authorizes the Mayor to 

enter into and execute an amendment to the existing agreement for payments in lieu of 

ad valorem taxes (PILOT) with the Industrial Development Board of the County of 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 13

Hamilton County, Tennessee, GeStamp, Hamilton County, Tennessee, and the City of 

Chattanooga with respect to expanding the project to encompass the supplemental 

project, and (III) to delegate certain authority to the board relating to the PILOT 

agreement amendment. 

 

 He noted the PILOT agreement between GeStamp, the Board, the City and the 

County dated July 1, 2015 (Resolution No. 715-16) will be amended to include 

equipment, improvements to existing buildings, and improvements made to real 

property located at 4120 Jersey Pike (29.20 acres), formally owned by Brach & Brock 

Confections, Inc. The terms of the July 2015 PILOT agreement will not change; this 

resolution is simply adding the newly acquired Jersey Pike property. Initially GeStamp 

was going to expanded on property located adjacent to Enterprise South Industrial Park 

(ESIP). However once the building process began, very challenging infrastructure 

issues were discovered including $2 million dollars worth of sink hole repairs. In an 

effort to meet demanding deadlines GeStamp bought the former Bach & Brock 

Confections manufacturing plant for $4 million and will invest $8.5 million for 

improvements.  

 

The Jersey Pike location will perform stamped chassis work for Volkswagen and 

BMW. To avoid any confusion it was clarified that the property located adjacent to ESIP 

will be utilized in the future for further expansion and the existing facility expansion 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 14

project (Res. 715-16) which was discussed during a presentation on June 24, 2015 is 

still taking place. The plant expansion project is bringing new technology called hot 

stamping.  

 

Chairman Bankston thanked Mr. Hiatt for the presentation and noted he was not 

required to attend next week’s meeting. 

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately following 

the Agenda Session. 

 

Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Roads Committee, announced that the 

Roads Committee would be meeting in the Conference Room immediately following the 

Agenda Session.  

 

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

 Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 15

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

Commissioner Mackey invited everyone to attend the Anti-Gang Program 

meeting, hosted by Donna Horne, Hamilton County School Board Member, today at 

11:00 am, Hamilton Place Mall. 

 

Commissioner Graham, Chairman of the Diversity and Equity Committee, invited 

everyone to attend next week’s meeting taking place immediately after the Regular 

meeting. He noted there would be a phenomenal guest speaker at the meeting. 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks and Mayor Coppinger both spoke about this year’s 

Hamilton County Fair, which took place Saturday, September 26, and Sunday, 

September 27. They thanked everyone for making this year’s Fair a huge success. 

 

 Mayor Coppinger invited everyone to attend the Tech Goes Home 

demonstration, taking place today at 4 pm at East Lake Academy. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 16

The Mayor also spoke about the International Volkswagen issue involving 

software VW had installed in certain vehicle models to cheat on emissions tests. He 

reported that he had discussed the situation with VW officials at several levels, and 

attended a meeting in Governor Haslam’s office last Thursday. VW authorities indicated 

that the company remains on schedule to begin production in Chattanooga of their 

much-anticipated mid-sized SUV in 2016. He stated VW has already committed 

approximately 50 percent of the $900 million promised and asked that everyone remain 

positive and supportive of Volkswagen during this difficult time.  

 

 Chairman Bankston invited everyone to attend the Softball Showdown between 

the City of Chattanooga and Hamilton County staff. The game will be held at the 

Summit Softball Complex this Thursday at 6 pm.  This fundraiser is part of the 2015 

Hamilton County Government United Way Campaign. 

 
  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2015 
 
 

 17

 

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Tuesday, October 6, at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
Approved: 
           

________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 6, 2015 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 6th day of October, 2015, a Regular Meeting 

of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Mackey, 

Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. The Chairman announced that 

Commissioner Boyd would be absent. Total present – 7. Total absent – 2.  

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

2 

 

Commissioner Mackey introduced Pastor Fletcher R. Farris, Community Baptist 

Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Mackey led in the pledge to the flag.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of September 9, 2015, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of September 9, 2015, and the Regular Meeting of September 16, 2015, be 

approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion 

was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission 

being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Commissioner Boyd and Commissioner Haynes were absent. Total present – 7. 

Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

REPORTS 

Commissioner Haynes arrived during the reading of reports.  

 

  ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Beck, that 

the Criminal Court Clerk report for July 2015, the Trustee’s monthly report for August 

2015, the Trustee’s excess fee report for August 2015, and the Juvenile Court Clerk 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

3 

 

report for July 2015 be made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion was 

adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission 

being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Haynes “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 

8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-1  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, AND THE BONDS AND 

OATHS OF NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-1. The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” 

votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

4 

 

Resolution Nos. 1015-2 through 1015-4, and 1015-6 through 1015-20 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-2  A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT MEMBERS TO THE 

HAMILTON COUNTY AUDIT COMMITTEE. 

 

 This Resolution appoints Chairman Chester Bankston, Commissioner Warren 

Mackey, and Commissioner Jim Fields for terms ending September 30, 2016.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1015-2. The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” 

votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-3  A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE APPOINTMENT OF 

ONE MEMBER AND REAPPOINTMENT OF TWO MEMBERS BY THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF ELECTRICAL EXAMINERS, 

TERMS ENDING SEPTEMBER 7, 2019. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

5 

 

 This Resolution appoints Dewayne Woodall, and reappoints James Walker and 

C. Alan Roderick.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-3. The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, 

with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as 

follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, 

“Aye”. Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” 

votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-4  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPOINTMENT OF 

A REPRESENTATIVE TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS 

ADVISORY BOARD. 

 

 This Resolution appoints Lee Ortwein for a term ending October 6, 2017.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-4.  

 

Commissioner Fields noted that he has worked with Mr. Ortwein in the past.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

6 

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-6  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

HARRISON RECREATIONAL BOOSTER CLUB IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FIVE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-6.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

7 

 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-7  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

WALDEN'S RIDGE EMERGENCY SERVICES IN THE AMOUNT OF THIRTY 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($30,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT TWO. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-7.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

8 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-8  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

ORANGE GROVE CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($10,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED 

TO DISTRICT NINE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1015-8.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-9  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

ORANGE GROVE CENTER, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($10,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED 

TO DISTRICT SEVEN. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

9 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-9.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-10  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

ORANGE GROVE CENTER, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($10,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED 

TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-10.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

10 

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Chairman Bankston clarified 

that clients at Orange Grove Center come from every district within Hamilton County.  

 

Commissioner Graham noted that while he does support Orange Grove Center 

and their work, he does not support using discretionary money to assist with purchases 

for 501c3 organizations.  

 

Commissioner Mackey added that the Commission should be doing everything 

they can to promote the work that Orange Grove Center does.  

 

Commissioner Beck called for the vote on the main motion made by 

Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to adopt Resolution No. 

1015-10. 

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

11 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-11  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

HIGHLAND PARK NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION IN THE AMOUNT OF THREE 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($3,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-11.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-12  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

SCULPTURE FIELDS AT MONTAGUE PARK IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($6,000.00) FROM DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS, AS ALLOTTED TO 

DISTRICT FOUR. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

12 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-12.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Boyd was absent. 

Commissioner Beck abstained from voting. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total 

“Aye” votes – 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. Total Abstentions – 1.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-13  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

SOUTHEAST TENNESSEE HEALTH CONSORTIUM IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-13.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

13 

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-14  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

STOP THE MADNESS NATIONAL, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF THREE THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($3,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS 

ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-14.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

14 

 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 7.  Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-15  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

CHURCHVILLE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF ONE 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-15.  

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke about the violence in district 4 and emphasized the 

importance of supporting initiatives designed to save lives.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

15 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-16  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

COMMUNITY FOUNDATION OF GREATER CHATTANOOGA, INC., IN THE 

AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($1,500.00) FROM 

GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-16.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

16 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-17  A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF 

ELEVEN THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS ($11,350.00) FROM 

GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT ONE) 

TO ASSIST THE CITY OF SODDY DAISY WITH REPAIRS AT VETERANS 

MEMORIAL PARK. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1015-17.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

17 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-18  A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

BAKEWELL COMMUNITY CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX THOUSAND FOUR 

HUNDRED DOLLARS ($6,400.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 

MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT ONE. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, 

to adopt Resolution No. 1015-18.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-19  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO SUBMIT A FASTTRACK ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND GRANT 

APPLICATION TO THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $5.5 MILLION TO 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

18 

 

ASSIST GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, LLC WITH EQUIPMENT AND BUILDING 

IMPROVEMENTS TO SUPPORT THE EXPANSION OF THE COMPANY'S 

HAMILTON COUNTY OPERATIONS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Beck, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-19.  

 

Chairman Bankston asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-20  A RESOLUTION (I) TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS 

RELATING TO THE EXPANSION OF AN EXISTING MANUFACTURING FACILITY 

LOCATED IN THE ENTERPRISE SOUTH INDUSTRIAL PARK (THE “PROJECT”) TO 

BE CONSTRUCTED, EQUIPPED, AND OPERATED BY GESTAMP CHATTANOOGA, 

LLC (“GESTAMP”) ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4120 JERSEY PIKE 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

19 

 

CHATTANOOGA, HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE (THE “SUPPLEMENTAL 

PROJECT”), (II) TO AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN 

AMENDMENT TO THE EXISTING AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD 

VALOREM TAXES WITH THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF THE 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON, TENNESSEE (THE “BOARD”), GESTAMP, HAMILTON 

COUNTY, TENNESSEE (THE “COUNTY”) AND THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA (THE 

“CITY”) WITH RESPECT TO EXPANDING THE PROJECT TO ENCOMPASS THE 

SUPPLEMENTAL PROJECT (THE “PILOT AGREEMENT AMENDMENT”), AND (III) 

TO DELEGATE CERTAIN AUTHORITY TO THE BOARD RELATING TO THE PILOT 

AGREEMENT AMENDMENT.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-20.  

 

The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

20 

 

 Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 1015-5 and 1015-21 through 

1015-23 be considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-5  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A STATE OF 

TENNESSEE, GOVERNOR’S HIGHWAY SAFETY OFFICE GRANT FOR THE “SAFE 

JOURNEY” PROJECT WITH A TERM ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 

AMENDING THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE OPERATING BUDGET BY ADDING 

$124,999.96 TO REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-21  A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF 

GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF AUGUST 1, 2015, THROUGH 

AUGUST 31, 2015, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-22  A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SOFTWARE UPDATE 

AND SUPPORT CONTRACT FOR CITYWORKS FROM AZTECA SYSTEMS, INC. 

FOR ONE (1) YEAR, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 11, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 10, 

2016, FOR THE GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEMS DEPARTMENT 

AMOUNTING TO $33,750.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 

ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

21 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-23  A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF LEE SMITH, 

INC. FOR ONE (1) TANDEM AXLE DUMP TRUCK AMOUNTING TO $119,250.00 

FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 Finance Committee member Commissioner Fairbanks provided details regarding 

Resolution Nos. 1015-5 and 1015-21 through 1015-23 and stated that the Finance 

Committee reviewed each item and recommended approval. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fairbanks, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, 

to adopt Resolution Nos. 1015-5 and 1015-21 through 1015-23. 

 

 The foregoing Resolutions were adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

22 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1015-24  A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE “MASTER LIST OF 

ROADS AND SPEED LIMITS” SO AS TO ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT 

ROADS AND TO ESTABLISH SPEED LIMITS THEREFOR: WILL DRIVE AND TOM 

TOM TRAIL. 

 

 Commissioner Haynes, Chairman of the Roads Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution No. 1015-24 and stated that the Roads Committee reviewed and 

recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Haynes, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1015-24. 

 

 The foregoing Motion was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Boyd was absent. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes 

– 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

23 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Commissioner Haynes announced that tonight begins the annual National Night 

Out. The event will take place at Stuart Heights Baptist Church Hixson Campus from 

5:30 pm – 8:00 pm. Chattanooga Police Department officers will be joining local 

neighborhood associations across Chattanooga to promote community and police 

cooperation in building safer streets city wide. National Night Out, “America’s Night Out 

Against Crime”, began in 1984 as an effort to promote involvement in crime prevention 

activities, police-community partnerships, and neighborhood camaraderie. 

Commissioner Haynes also reported that he will host a community meeting with District 

3 City Councilman Ken Smith and District 3 School Board member Greg Martin on 

October 19th at 6:30 PM at Abba’s House.  

 

Commissioner Mackey also spoke about National Night Out and invited members 

of the Commission to attend events taking place in District 4. He also spoke about the 

football game on Saturday, October 10th. The University of Tennessee of Chattanooga 

(UTC) will be hosting Furman. It was noted that Commissioner Mackey’s son plays for 

the Furman football team, and wears number 42.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

24 

 

Commissioner Graham announced that the Diversity and Equity Committee 

would be meeting in the conference room immediately after today’s Commission 

meeting. It was noted that he invited a guest speaker for the Committee meeting. 

Commissioner Graham also reminded the Commission about events taking place for 

National Night Out in District 6, and the importance of thanking and interacting with 

police officers and first responders in our neighborhoods.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks announced that he would be cheering for UTC, his 

alma mater, during the football game on Saturday, but would cheer for Commissioner 

Mackey’s son as well.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning.  

 

Monty Bell, a homeless resident of Hamilton County for 17 years, addressed the 

Commission regarding racial disparity in the criminal justice system and the lack of role 

models in the African American community.  

 

Commissioner Beck responded to Mr. Bell’s comments. He reminded members 

of the Commission about the efforts that have been taken to curb the violence and 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

OCTOBER 6, 2015 
 

25 

 

produce role models in the African American community. He added that he considered 

Commissioner Mackey a hero in the community.  

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Mr. Bell left the meeting before any questions 

could be addressed to him.  

 

In response to Mr. Bell’s comments about knowing each Commissioner 

personally, Commissioner Smedley noted that she was not familiar with Mr. Bell.  

 

Commissioner Graham added that before the meeting began he shook hands 

and welcomed Mr. Bell to today’s meeting.  

 

There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, October 14, 2015 at 9:30 AM. 

       

      Respectfully submitted: 

 

 

      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 





No. 1015-25 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS. 

   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS” have taken the oath of office. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2.  That the persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 

 COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
 hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
 approved as taken; and 



 

 

 
3. That the persons named on the listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 

SHERIFFS” are accepted and the oaths therefor are approved as taken; and  
 

 4. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 























No. 1015-26 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ACCEPT A U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY 2015 PORT SECURITY GRANT AND 
AMENDING THE CAPITAL BUDGET OF THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE BY ADDING $95,025 
TO REVENUES AND $126,700 EXPENDITURES. 
 
WHEREAS, Hamilton County has been awarded a $95,025 grant from the U.S. Department of 
Homeland Security 2015 Port Security Grant Program; and  
 
WHEREAS, the grant will be used to refurbish the 24’ boat for the Marine Division, purchase water 
life vests for the SWAT Division, two portable CRNE sensors/detectors for the Patrol and Marine 
Divisions and training for the Marine and Dive Team Personnel at an estimated value of $95,025 (or 
75% of $126,700).  This equipment will provide additional opportunities for monitoring, enhanced 
surveillance, protection, detection, response and recovery efforts to the Port of Chattanooga and other 
areas of the county where needed; and 
 
WHEREAS, a match of 25% or $31,675 will be required by the Hamilton County General 
Fund; and 
 
WHEREAS, the match of $31,675 and the award of $95,025 will equal a total project cost of 
$126,700. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
THE COUNTY MAYOR IS HEREBY AUTHORIZED TO ACCEPT A U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 
HOMELAND SECURITY 2015 PORT SECURITY GRANT, AND THE CAPITAL BUDGET OF 
THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE IS AMENDED BY ADDING $95,025 TO REVENUES AND $126,700 
EXPENDITURES. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLICE WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 1015-27 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE GRANT AND TO 
AMEND THE SHERIFF’S OPERATING BUDGET BY INCREASING REVENUES AND 
EXPENDITURES BY $19,859.  PURSUANT TO THE GRANT TERMS, THE FUNDS MAY BE 
USED FOR CORRECTION PURPOSES ONLY.  
 
WHEREAS, Section 241 (i) of the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act provided for a 
program to provide assistance to states and local governments that are incurring costs due to 
the incarceration of undocumented criminal aliens; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sheriff’s Office applied for grant funds under the resulting State Criminal 
Alien Assistance Program (SCAAP);  
 
WHEREAS, the Sheriff’s Office application for funding has been approved in the amount of 
$19,859; and 
 
WHEREAS, these grant funds will be used for “correctional purposes only”; and 
 
WHEREAS, no matching funds are required. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
Hamilton County hereby accepts the U.S. Department of Justice Grant, and the Sheriff’s Office 
Operating Budget is amended by adding $19,859, to the revenues and expenditures. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 1015-28 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF ON DUTY DEPOT FOR ONE (1) YEAR 
CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING OCTOBER 21, 2015 THROUGH OCTOBER 
20, 2016, FOR VEHICLE COMPUTER CRADLES FOR THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND 
TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 
TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
   
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract 

unit pricing for vehicle computer cradles for the Sheriff’s vehicles; and,  
   
WHEREAS, the bid from On Duty Depot was considered to be the lowest and best bid 

received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of On Duty Depot for one (1) year contract unit pricing, beginning October 21, 
2015 through October 20, 2016, for vehicle computer cradles for the Sheriff’s Office is hereby 
accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to 
sign any contacts necessary to implement this resolution.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





























No. 1015-29A 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-095) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-2 LOCAL BUSINESS 

COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8228 
HARRISON BAY ROAD 

 
 
 WHEREAS, David Smith and Anthony Smith petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to rezone from R-2A Rural 
Residential District to C-2 Local Business Commercial District, property located at 
8228 Harrison Bay Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended 
that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, David Smith and Anthony Smith requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in 
general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public 
hearing on October 21, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required 
by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended to rezone from R-2A Rural Residential District to C-2 Local Business 
Commercial District, property located at 8228 Harrison Bay Road.  Lot 1 of the Albert 
Boyd & Ed Ramsey Tracts, Plat Book 31, Page 8, ROHC, Deed Book 10305, Page 
533, ROHC.  Tax Map 093-064 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 



 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 1015-29B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-095) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-2 LOCAL BUSINESS 

COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8228 
HARRISON BAY ROAD 

 
 
 WHEREAS, David Smith and Anthony Smith petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to rezone from R-2A Rural 
Residential District to C-2 Local Business Commercial District, property located at 
8228 Harrison Bay Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended 
that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, David Smith and Anthony Smith requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in 
general circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public 
hearing on October 21, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required 
by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended to rezone, subject to the use being restricted to propane sales, tax 
preparation and vehicle/boat storage only, from R-2A Rural Residential District to 
C-2 Local Business Commercial District, property located at 8228 Harrison Bay Road.  
Lot 1 of the Albert Boyd & Ed Ramsey Tracts, Plat Book 31, Page 8, ROHC, Deed 
Book 10305, Page 533, ROHC.  Tax Map 093-064 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 



 

 

FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 1015-30A 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-098) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM M-2 WHOLESALE AND 
LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT TO R-3 APARTMENT-

TOWNHOUSE DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6849 
MOUNTAIN VIEW ROAD 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Wendy Roberts petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Regional Planning Commission to rezone from M-2 Wholesale and Light Industry 
District to R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District, property located at 6849 Mountain View 
Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be 
approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Wendy Roberts requested that the County Commission consider 
said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in 
Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on October 
21, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such 
hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended to rezone from M-2 Wholesale and Light Industry District to R-3 
Apartment-Townhouse District, property located at 6849 Mountain View Road. Part of 
Lot 10, Frank Trundle Subdivision, Plat Book 94, Page 186, ROHC, being part of 
Tract One (1) in Deed Book 9930, Page 982, ROHC.  Tax Map 123-009.06 (part) as 
shown on the attached map. 
  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 



 

 

FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 















No. 1015-30B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-098) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM M-2 WHOLESALE AND 
LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT TO R-3 APARTMENT-

TOWNHOUSE DISTRICT, PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6849 
MOUNTAIN VIEW ROAD 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Wendy Roberts petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Regional Planning Commission to rezone from M-2 Wholesale and Light Industry 
District to R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District, property located at 6849 Mountain View 
Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be 
approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Wendy Roberts requested that the County Commission consider 
said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in 
Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on October 
21, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such 
hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County 
be amended to rezone, subject to use as an assisted living facility only, from M-2 
Wholesale and Light Industry District to R-3 Apartment-Townhouse District, property 
located at 6849 Mountain View Road. Part of Lot 10, Frank Trundle Subdivision, Plat 
Book 94, Page 186, ROHC, being part of Tract One (1) in Deed Book 9930, Page 
982, ROHC.  Tax Map 123-009.06 (part) as shown on the attached map. 
  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 



 

 

FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 















No. 1015-31 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-104) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 
PERMIT FOR THE REVISION OF A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED 

UNIT DEVELOPMENT ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1521 
OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 

  
 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for the 
Revision of a Residential Planned Unit Development on property located at 1521 
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended 
that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC requested that the County Commission 
consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general 
circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing 
on October 21, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, 
and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY 
LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of 
Hamilton County be amended granting a Special Exceptions Permit for the Revision 
of a Residential Planned Unit Development on property located at 1521 Ooltewah-
Ringgold Road.  All of Tax Map 172-050.03 being part of the property described in 
Deed Book 8188, Page 933, ROHC, excepting therefrom the north 520 feet together 
with Tax Maps 172-050.06 thru 050.42 as shown on the attached map. 
 



 

 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 















No. 1015-32 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                   (P.C. NO. 2015-105) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 
PERMIT FOR THE REVISION OF A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED 

UNIT DEVELOPMENT ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1521 
OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for the 
Revision of a Residential Planned Unit Development on property located at 1521 
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended 
that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Pratt & Associates, LLC requested that the County Commission 
consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general 
circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing 
on October 21, 2015, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, 
and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY 
LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of 
Hamilton County be amended granting a Special Exceptions Permit for the Revision 
of a Residential Planned Unit Development on property located at 1521 Ooltewah-
Ringgold Road. The north 520 feet of Tax Map 172-050.03 being part of the property 
described in Deed Book 8188, Page 933, ROHC. Tax Map 172-050.03 (part) as 
shown on the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 



 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 















No. 1015-33 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO ARTSBUILD IN THE AMOUNT OF 
FIFTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($15,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 
MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT EIGHT. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Tim Boyd has expressed a desire to allocate Fifteen Thousand Dollars 

($15,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to ArtsBuild to assist with the 
Community Cultural Connection Grant; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated 
to ArtsBuild to assist with the Community Cultural Connection Grant. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 
 

 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 













No. 1015-34 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE UNIT PRICE BIDS OF TELESOURCE SERVICES, LLC, 
SYNERGY TELECOM, INC., AND TEL-XL FOR NORTEL TELEPHONE EQUIPMENT FOR THE 
PERIOD BEGINNING NOVEMBER 19, 2015 THROUGH NOVEMBER 18, 2016 FOR THE 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing for 

Nortel telephone equipment for the Telecommunications Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the unit price bids from Telesource Services, Synergy Telecom, Inc., and Tel-XL for 

Nortel telephone equipment were considered to be the lowest and best bids received; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the unit price bids of Telesource Services, LLC, Synergy Telecom, Inc., Tel-XL for Nortel 
telephone equipment for the period beginning November 19, 2015 through November 18, 2016 for the 
Telecommunications Department is hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, 
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM  
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





































No. 1015-35 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DON LEDFORD AUTO PARK FOR MODEL 
YEAR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING FOR FLEET STAFF SEDANS FOR HAMILTON 
COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
   
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing 

for model year staff fleet sedans; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Don Ledford Auto Park amounting to $19,225.00 was considered 

to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, this contract pricing for fleet vehicles will expedite the ordering of County fleet 

staff sedans; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Don Ledford Auto Park for contract unit pricing for fleet staff sedans for 
Hamilton County is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contacts necessary to implement this resolution.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 























































No. 1015-36 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE COUNTY GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURE BUDGET FROM 
PREVIOUSLY UNBUDGETED FUNDS BY APPROPRIATING $11,388.89 TO THE 28TH 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION TO ASSIST THEM IN PAYING COUNTY 
PROPERTY TAXES AND APPLICABLE FEES AND PENALTIES FOR TAX YEARS 2011-2014. 
 
WHEREAS, Twenty-eighth Community Development Corporation is a 501(c)3 non-profit organization 

that constructs homes for sale to low-income households; and 
 
WHEREAS, during the years 2009-2012, the corporation was unable to sell several of these properties due 

to the downturn in the economy; and 
 
WHEREAS, the corporation relies heavily on the proceeds from the sales of these homes for operating 

expenses (including property taxes); and 
 
WHEREAS, due to the inability of the corporation to sell several of its properties, they have been unable 

to pay the property taxes on three of its parcels (136N-M-006, 137A-F-007 and 137A-F-008) 
for the past four (4) years and said property tax liability has become an extreme hardship; and 

 
WHEREAS, there is an opportunity for the properties to be transferred to another non-profit organization 

that will be making the homes available to veterans; and 
 
WHEREAS, said transfer cannot take place until all of the property taxes have been paid. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County General Fund expenditure budget be amended from previously unbudgeted funds by 
appropriating $11,388.89 to the 28th Community Development Corporation to assist them in paying County 
property taxes and applicable fees and penalties for tax years 2011-2014. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are appropriated 

shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a copy of an annual 
report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed use of the County’s 
funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by the chief financial officer 



 

 

of such nonprofit organization in accordance with Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 
 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general welfare of 
the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County in 

providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in compliance with 
Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and all other laws which 
may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations and 
so this is made subject to compliance with any and all of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





























No. 1015-37 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND RESOLUTION NO. 915-30, AS PREVIOUSLY 
ADOPTED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY,  AND TO ADOPT THE 
CORRECTED FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAPS (FIRM),  AS ASSOCIATED WITH 
THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM (NFIP), FOR THE 
UNINCORPORATED AREAS OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
WHEREAS, this legislative body passed Resolution No. 915-30 on September 16, 2015; and,  

 
WHEREAS, the maps submitted by Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) to 

Hamilton County for adoption were incorrect; and,  
 
WHEREAS, FEMA has since resubmitted the appropriate descriptive maps as listed below; 

and,  
 
WHEREAS, said corrected maps will supersede and replace those previously adopted by this 

body on September 16, 2015; and  
 
WHEREAS, the adoption of the FIRM panels are required in order to maintain eligibility to 

participate in NFIF. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED. 
 

 That the areas of Special Flood Hazard identified by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) for the unincorporated area of 
Hamilton County, Tennessee, and in its Flood Insurance Study (FIS) dated 
February 3, 2016, and Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), particularly 
identified as Community 470071, Panel Numbers 47065C0020G, 
47065C0040G, 47065C0045G, 47065C0107G, 47065C0109G, 47065C0118G, 
47065C0120G, 47065C0130G, 47065C0135G, 47065C0140G, 47065C0145G, 
47065C0209G, 47065C0212G, 47065C0213G, 47065C0214G, 47065C0217G, 
47065C0218G, 47065C0226G, 47065C0227G, 47065C0228G, 47065C0229G, 
47065C0231G, 47065C0235G, 47065C0236G, 47065C0237G, 47065C0239G, 
47065C0241G, 47065C0243G, 47065C0245G, 47065C0255G, 47065C0260G, 
47065C0264G,  47065C0265G, 47065C0268G, 47065C0270G, 47065C0310G, 
47065C0319G, 47065C0326G, 47065C0327G, 47065C0328G, 47065C0336G, 



 

 

47065C0338G, 47065C0339G, 47065C0356G,  47065C0357G, 47065C0359G, 
47065C0367G, 47065C0369G, 47065C0378G,  47065C0379G,  
47065C0380G, 47065C0381G, 47065C0384G, 47065C0386G, 47065C0387G, 
47065C0388G, 47065C0389G, 47065C0391G, 47065C0392G, 47065C0393G,  
47065C0394G,  47065C0425G, 47065C0432G, 47065C0452G, 47065C0505G, 
and 47065C0510G, dated February 3, 2016 along with all supporting technical 
data, are hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this 
Resolution.  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 1015-38 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DILLARD CONSTRUCTION, INC. FOR 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE SALE CREEK MIDDLE / HIGH SCHOOL ADDITION 
AMOUNTING TO $10,499,029.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for construction of the 

Sale Creek Middle / High School Addition; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Dillard Construction, Inc. amounting to $10,499,029.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Dillard Construction, Inc. for construction of the Sale Creek Middle / High 
School Addition amounting to $10,499,029.00 is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest 
and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 1015-39 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND 
EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH TERRACON CONSULTANTS, INC. FOR 
CONSTRUCTION AND SPECIAL INSPECTION TESTING NECESSARY FOR THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE SALE CREEK MIDDLE/HIGH SCHOOL ADDITION FOR AN 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $54,000.00 OF PREVIOUSLY BUDGETED FUNDS. 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution 615-12 was approved by the Legislative Body on June 03, 2015 

approving hourly rates and testing service fees for the geoenvironmental 
services provided by Thompson Engineering; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the total amount of the contract shall not exceed $54,000.00 without approval 

by the County Commission; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor is authorized to enter into and execute an agreement with Terracon 
Consulting, Inc. to provide construction and special inspection testing for the Sale Creek 
Middle/High School Addition for an amount not to exceed $54,000.00. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





















No. 1015-40 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF HENRY SCHEIN, INC., MIDWEST MEDICAL 
SUPPLY COMPANY, LLC, MOORE MEDICAL, LLC, AND BUY INDIAN MEDICAL FOR 
CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 
2016, FOR LABORATORY SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract unit 

pricing for laboratory supplies for the Health Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Henry Schein, Inc., Midwest Medical Supply Company, LLC, Moore 

Medical, LLC, and Buy Indian Medical were considered to be the lowest and best 
bids received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Henry Schein, Inc., Midwest Medical Supply Company, LLC, Moore Medical, LLC, 
and Buy Indian Medical for contract unit pricing, beginning November 7, 2015, through November 6, 
2016, for laboratory supplies for the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department are hereby 
accepted, said bids being the lowest and best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign 
any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 































No. 1015-41 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ROLL-AID INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY, SCHOOL 
SPECIALTY, INC. AND QUILL CORPORATION FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, 
BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2016, FOR GENERAL OFFICE 
SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract unit 

pricing for general office supplies for the Health Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Roll-Aid Industrial Supply, School Specialty, Inc. and Quill 

Corporation were the lowest and best bids received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Roll-Aid Industrial Supply, School Specialty, Inc. and Quill Corporation for contract 
unit pricing, beginning November 7, 2015, through November 6, 2016, for general office supplies for 
the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest 
and best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement 
this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





































No. 1015-42 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF ACT BUSINESS MACHINES, INC. AND XPEDX 
FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, THROUGH NOVEMBER 
6, 2016, FOR PRINTING AND PAPER SUPPLIES FOR THE CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) year contract unit 

pricing for printing and paper supplies for the Health Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from ACT Business Machines, Inc. and Xpedx were the lowest and best bids 

received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of ACT Business Machines, Inc. and Xpedx for contract unit pricing, beginning 
November 7, 2015, through November 6, 2016, for printing and paper supplies for the 
Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health Department is hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and 
best bids received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





























No. 1015-43 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF HENRY SCHEIN, ROLL-AID INDUSTRIAL 
SUPPLY, MIDWEST MEDICAL SUPPLY COMPANY, LLC, MOORE MEDICAL, LLC, AND 
KELSAN, INC. FOR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 7, 2015, 
THROUGH NOVEMBER 6, 2016, FOR INFECTION CONTROL SUPPLIES FOR THE 
CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1)year contract unit 

pricing for infection control supplies for the Health Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Henry Schein, Roll-Aid Industrial Supply, Midwest Medical Supply 

Company, LLC, Moore Medical, LLC and Kelsan, Inc. were considered to be the 
lowest and best bids received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Henry Schein, Roll-Aid Industrial Supply, Midwest Medical Supply Company, LLC, 
Moore Medical, LLC, and Kelsan, Inc. for contract unit pricing, beginning November 7, 2015, through 
November 6, 2016, for infection control supplies for the Chattanooga/Hamilton County Health 
Department are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best overall bids received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 































No. 1015-44 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF AUTO NATION FORD OF MARIETTA 
FOR ONE (1) FIFTEEN PASSENGER VAN AMOUNTING TO $28,299.00 FOR THE 
CHATTANOOGA / HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) fifteen 

passenger van for the Homeless Clinic; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Auto Nation Ford of Marietta amounting to $28,299.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Auto Nation Ford of Marietta for one (1) fifteen passenger van amounting to 
$28,299.00 for the Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department is hereby accepted, said 
bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any 
contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 















































































No. 1015-45 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPOINTMENT OF A REPRESENTATIVE TO 
THE HAMILTON COUNTY COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS DVISORY BOARD 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Community Corrections Program is a valuable program 
  which provides a sentencing alternative for non-violent felony offenders; and, 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to T.C.A. 40-36-201 et seq., in order to qualify for state funding under 
  the felony program administered by the Tennessee Department of Correction, 
  a community corrections advisory board must be established; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the recent resignation of Justin Strand created a vacancy on the board; and, 
   
WHEREAS, Veronica Hurd has been nominated to serve the balance of his term ending 
  June 30, 2016; and, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN  
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 The following individual is hereby appointed to serve the balance of Justin Strand’s 
 term on the Hamilton  County Community Correction Advisory Board: 
 
 REPRESENTATIVE   NOMINATED BY 
 Veronica Hurd    Tennessee Department of Correction 
  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 



 
Veronica Hurd 

3623 Premium Drive 
Chattanooga, TN 37415 

Cell: (423)309-0723 
dhurdv@gmail.com 

 
 
Compassionate, persistent, versatile. Self-starting and committed to serving individuals in need of moving 
towards self-sufficiency and better lives. Skilled team builder, program manager, advocate, and customer care 
provider in both community development and business settings. Adept at resolving conflict in complex multi-
racial and multi-cultural environments. Computer literate. Desires career positon with local area  agency devoted 
to promoting the well-being of others. 
 

 
Work  
Experience 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2011 - Present. Mobile Crisis Response Therapist, Volunteer Behavioral Health, 
Chattanooga, TN.   

• Response to clients in mental health crisis at the Crisis Center and within community. 
• Face-to-face counseling and phone crisis counseling 
• Conducted telephonic triage, linkage and referrals as appropriate to each situation. 
• Dispatch to 911/EMS as indicated for counseling/intervention 
• Performed administrative functions such as case charting, documentation, and data 

entry. 
 
2011 - Present.  Probation and Parole Manger I; State of Tennessee, Chattanooga, TN.  
Responsible for supervising/managing employees and assisting with inner office operations –
inclusing crisis situations. 
• Approve transportation for probationers and parolees to receive mental health treatment 

and/or employment. 
• Manage/supervise officers in both rural and urban counties. 
• Review Tennessee Code Annotated policies for the appropriate application of policies and 

procedures regarding employee directives, interviews, job plans, and interim and final 
evaluations. 

• Interact with community (victims, offenders, corrections, mental health facilities, courts, 
Public Defender’s Office, The Judiciary, and the District Attorney’s Office. 

• Assign and close case files 
• Monitor offender fee payments 
• Approve employee leave and attendance. 
• Approve reports (violations, facts of offense, and pre/post sentence investigations) 
• Conduct case file reviews 
• Community outreach  

 
2006 - 2011 Mobile Crisis Response Therapist, Fortwood Center, Chattanooga, TN.  
Responsible for responding to clients experiencing mental health crisis.  

• Face-to-face and phone counseling 
• Telephone triage of clients in crisis 
• Completion of administrative functions 

 
11/2006 – 4/2007 Interim District Director, State of Tennessee Department of 
Paroles, Chattanooga,TN.  
       •     Managed the staff and activities of the parole and probation department. 

• Facilitated orientation and training of new employees 
• Communicated with staff, management, and team members to ensure policy and 

program objectives are clearly understood, accurately communicated, and properly 
interpreted. 

• Analyzed data and information and prepared documents regarding disciplinary actions 
for staff. 

mailto:dhurdv@gmail.com


 
06/2000 – 04/2002  Probation and Parole Offier-2, State of Tennessee Department  of  
Probation/Parole (Correction)-Chattanooga, TN  
      • Supervising  a  caseload  of (100+)  probationers and  parolees 
      • Attending  court  hearings, 
      • Conducting  home  visits,  monthly  statistical reports, drug screens, arrest checks, 
         finger  printing,  individual  and  group  reporting. 
      • Collecting agency supervision  fees,  court costs, fees,  and  restitution. 
      • Monitoring  special  conditions  and  community  service work  as mandated  by  the      
         court. 
      • Completing  violation  reports and warrants 
      • Conducting  both community  and work  site  presentations. 
 

 
Work  
Experience 
 
 
 
 
 
Abilities and 
Specialties 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 11/2005 – 8/2006 Academic Coach and Tutor University of Tennessee of Chattanooga 
• Responsible for assisting student athletes with time management skills 
• Academic coaching and feedback 

 
 9/2004 – 12/2004 Adjunct Professor, Chattanooga State Technical Community College. 

• Instructor of College and Personal Success (RI 100) 
• Assisted freshmen and non-traditional students with transitioning to college. 

 
 

 
• Experienced advocate for clients while maintaining the spirit of trust. 
• Skilled crisis counseling provider in matters that affect the well-being and mental 

health of individuals and groups. 
• Proficient in understanding concepts and translating them into effective presentation 

and project deliverables 
• Excellent communication skills will diverse populations and ability to accept and give 

feedback. 
• Established team leader and team player in multi-faceted projects 
• Skilled in managing information, establishing a plan, and can organizing and make 

decisions as required 
• Ability to work well with people of varied backgrounds and attitudes 
• Flexible in making changes in unexpected circumstances while considtently 

responding to needs of the agency 
• Proficient in major computer operating systems 
• Exercised analytical ability, judgment and discretion with both confidential and 

routine information 
 

Areas of Specialty 
• Interpretation and i.plementation of Tennessee Code Annotated  
• Interpretation and Implementation of agency policy 
• Management  
• Crisis Intervention  
• Investigations  
• Research 

 
Education 12/2016--University of Tennessee at Chattanooga.  Masters in Criminal Justice. 

 
05/2001--University of Tennessee at Chattanooga.  Masters in Education. 
 
05/1997--University of Tenessee at Chattanooga, TN. Bachelor of Science – Social Work.   
  
05/1995--University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, TN.  Bachelor Science - Psychology. 
 



 

Activities/ 
Interests 

 
• Sports enthusiast 
• Swimming 
• Cooking/Baking 
• Literature 

 
 

References 
 
 

       • Lisa  Higgins-Crisis  Response  Therapist Volunteer  Behavioral  Health Work       
          Number: (423) 634-8995; Cell Number: (423) 645-6300. 
        •Tanya  Pace-Forensic  Social  Worker Tennessee  Department  of  Correction- Number:       
          (423) 634-6333  ext.  151; Cell Number:  (256) 520-3669. 
        • Joyce  Fletcher-Training  Coordinator Tennessee  Department  of  Correction-Number:  
          (423) 634-6333 ext. 111; Cell Number (423)310-1279. 
        • Mark  Shively-Crisis  Response  Supervisor–Fortwood  Center-Cell Number  
          (423)503-8227. 
  



No. 1015-46 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CUSTOM TRUCK AND BODY WORKS, 
INC. FOR TWO (2) TYPE I MEDIUM DUTY AMBULANCES AMOUNTING TO 
$385,698.00 FOR EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for two (2) Type I 

Medium Duty Ambulances for Emergency Medical Services; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. amounting to $385,698.00 

was considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for two (2) Type I Medium Duty 
Ambulances amounting to $385,698.00 for Emergency Medical Services is hereby accepted, 
said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any 
contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





































































































No. 1015-47 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

A RESOLUTION FOR DALLAS BAY VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENT 
TO SELL A 1998 FORD E-350 VAN WHICH IS CO-TITLED WITH 
HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, the 1998 Ford E-350 van, Tag # GS 2063, VIN # 1FBSS31L6WHA73319, 

mileage of 221,000 currently titled to Hamilton County has become 
uneconomical to maintain and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department desires that said vehicle be declared 

surplus and sold, and when sold, the proceeds there from used towards the 
acquisition of firefighting equipment for the Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire 
Department; and. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN  
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
      

(1)  That Hamilton County’s interest in said vehicle be terminated by sale in an “as is” 
condition; and, 
 

(2) That if sold by Dallas Bay Voulnteer Fire Department, said vehicle be sold in a 
commercially reasonable manner and the proceeds be utilized to purchase needed 
firefighting equipment for Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 1015-48 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

A RESOLUTION FOR SALE CREEK VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENT 
TO SELL A 1991 FORD E-350 AMBULANCE WHICH IS CO-TITLED 
WITH HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 
WHEREAS, the 1991 Ford E-350, ambulance, Tag # GP 2860, VIN # 

1FDJE34M2MHA93871, mileage of 134237 currently titled to Hamilton 
County has become uneconomical to maintain and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department desires that said vehicle be declared 

surplus and sold, and when sold, the proceeds there from used towards the 
acquisition of firefighting equipment for the Sale Creek Volunteer Fire 
Department; and. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN  
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
      

(1)  That Hamilton County’s interest in said vehicle be terminated by sale in an “as is” 
condition; and, 
 

(2) That if sold by Sale Creek Voulnteer Fire Department, said vehicle be sold in a 
commercially reasonable manner and the proceeds be utilized to purchase needed 
firefighting equipment for Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 1015-49 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF AUTO NATION CHEVROLET 
NORTHPOINT FOR TWO (2) HEAVY DUTY CARGO VANS AMOUNTING TO 
$49,622.00 FOR THE MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for two (2) heavy duty 

cargo vans for the Maintenance Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Auto Nation Chevrolet Northpoint amounting to $49,622.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Auto Nation Chevrolet Northpoint for two (2) heavy duty cargo vans 
amounting to $49,622.00 for the Maintenance Department is hereby accepted, said bid being 
the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 















































No. 1015-50 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DON LEDFORD AUTO PARK, LLC FOR 
ONE (1) FULL SIZE SEDAN AMOUNTING TO $18,150.00 FOR THE CORRECTIONS 
DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) full size 

sedan for the Corrections Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Don Ledford Auto Park, LLC amounting to $18,150.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Don Ledford Auto Park, LLC for one (1) full size sedan amounting to 
$18,150.00 for the Corrections Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and 
best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 





















































No. 1015-51 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO CHATTANOOGA BOYS CHOIR IN 
THE AMOUNT OF ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) FROM THE GENERAL FUND 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE.  
  
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County 

Legislative Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit 

charitable civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of 
funds to carry on their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston desired to allocate One Thousand Dollars 

($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to the Chattanooga Boys 
Choir to assist with their Ambassadors of Goodwill trip to Germany; and  

 
WHEREAS, the  County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of 

the citizens of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be appropriated to 
the Chattanooga Boys Choir. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 
appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator and the 
proposed use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and 
certified by the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance 
with Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A 

 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County.  

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County in 

providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in compliance 
with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and all other laws 
which may apply to Count appropriations to nonprofit charitable  and civic 
organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all of these 
laws and regulations.  

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING 
IT. 
 
 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 







No. 1015-52 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO HAMILTON COUNTY SPECIAL 
TACTICS AND RESCUE SERVICES (STARS) IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO THOUSAND 
FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM THE GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY 
MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT NINE.  
  
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County 

Legislative Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit 

charitable civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of 
funds to carry on their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Chester Bankston desired to allocate Two Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies to the 
Hamilton County STARS to assist with purchase of fuel; and  

 
WHEREAS, the  County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of 

the citizens of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) from General Fund discretionary monies be 
appropriated to the Hamilton County STARS. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 
appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator and the 
proposed use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and 
certified by the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance 
with Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A 



 

 

 
2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 

organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County.  

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County in 

providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in compliance 
with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and all other laws 
which may apply to Count appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic 
organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all of these 
laws and regulations.  

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT 
FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING 
IT. 
 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 21, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 1015-53 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 

 

 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 

RESOLUTION ADOPTING A POLICY PROVIDING FOR INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL INVESTIGATIONS INTO 
ALLEGATIONS OF NEGLIGENCE OR MISCONDUCT COMMITTED BY OFFICIALS, EMPLOYEES, AND/OR 

CONTRACTORS OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY MEDICAL EXAMINER’S OFFICE, AS THEY RELATE TO 
GRANTS RECEIVED BY HAMILTON COUNTY UNDER THE PAUL COVERDELL FORENSIC SCIENCE 

IMPROVEMENT GRANTS PROGRAM.  
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Medical Examiner’s Office has applied for a grant from the 
Tennessee Department of Health, Office of the State Chief Medical Examiner to upgrade their film x-
ray process to computed radiography (CR); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the State has funds available under the Paul Coverdell Forensic Science 
Improvement Grants Program from the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), Office of Justice Programs 
(OJP), National Institute of Justice (NIJ); and 
 
 WHEREAS, among the eligibility requirements for receiving these grant funds is a requirement 
that the recipient of a grant under this program must have a written policy providing for independent 
external investigations into allegations of negligence or misconduct committed by officials, 
employees, and/or contractors of the Hamilton County Medical Examiner’s Office; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this Legislative Body finds that it is in Hamilton County’s best interest to allow the 
Medical Examiner’s Office to obtain these grant funds to upgrade their film x-ray process.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the attached policy providing for Independent External Investigations into Allegations of 
Negligence or Misconduct committed by officials, employees, and/or contractors of the Hamilton 
County Medical Examiner’s Office, as they relate to grants received by Hamilton County under the 
Paul Coverdell Forensic Science Improvement Grants Program, is hereby adopted.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE 
PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.   



 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

Click here to enter a date. 

  
Date 

 



 Hamilton County, TN 
County Auditor’s Office 
Policies and Procedures 

 
SUBJECT: Independent External Investigations  PAGE 1 of 3 PAGES 

 
 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 
Nov. 1, 2015 

DATE ISSUED:      
Nov. 1, 2015 

DATE REVISED: 

 
APPROVED: 

 
External Investigations: Processing Allegations of Negligence or Misconduct 

 
 
 

Allegations of employee and/or contractor negligence or misconduct may be received in 
the County Auditor’s Office for investigation.  Once received, an initial review o f  the 
complaint and/or allegation of fraud, waste, abuse, and or misconduct concerning policy 
violations shall be conducted. 

 
Persons   reporting  such a complaint or allegation   will   be  referred   to   the   Senior 
Auditor  w i t h i n  the  County Auditor’s Office for  intake  and  obtaining pertinent  facts  
and  circumstances of  the complaint or  allegation.  At a minimum, the following 
information w i l l  be obtained for investigation purposes and reporting to any additional 
external investigating agencies: 

 
1.   Agency and/or Subcontractor/Sub recipient Name 
2.   Name and title of individual taking information and preparing the report 
3.   Date of the information received and any subsequent reports prepared 
4.   Date the alleged complaint, fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct occurred 
5.   Name and phone numbers of any witnesses or contacts 
6.   Name of any employee or contractor suspected to have caused the complaint of 

fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct 
7.   Any circumstances involved to describe the incident 

 

 
All initial information obtained will be discussed with the County Auditor and the Audit 
Manager.  If, after  these  initial  discussions and  review, it is determined  that  a  reasonable 
opportunity  exists  for  the  complaint  or allegation to be valid, an investigation  will be 
undertaken  and  the following entities, at a minimum  and if necessary  in the particular 
circumstances, will be notified: 



 Hamilton County, TN 
County Auditor’s Office 
Policies and Procedures 

 
SUBJECT: Independent External Investigations   PAGE 2 of 3 PAG ES 

 
 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 
Nov. 1, 2015 

DATE ISSUED: 
Nov., 1, 2015 

DATE REVISED: APPROVED: 

 
 
 
 

• The State Comptroller of the Treasury 
• The Tennessee Office of Criminal Justice Programs (Paul Coverdell Forensic 

Science Improvement Grant Program) 
• The Hamilton County District Attorney's Office 

 
Any or all of these entities will have the proper authority to conduct an independent 
external investigation and have the processes in place to conduct such an investigation. 

 
For  those  funds  the  department  receives  from  the  Paul  Coverdell  Forensic  Science 
Improvement Grant Program through the National Institute of Justice as a sub-grantee the, 
County Auditor’s Office will: 

 
• Document and report the complaint/allegation to the appropriate government 

agencies named above. 
• Document and report the complaint/allegation to the Office of Criminal Justice 

Program. 
• Document and report the complaint/allegation to the appropriate accrediting or 

certifying body from which they have obtained accreditation or ce r t i f i ca t ion 
(i.e.,) the Medical Examiner's Office and/or coroner's office would notify the 
National Association of Medical Examiners) 

 
To facilitate reporting of allegations of fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct, signage as 
required by the State Comptroller's Office and the County Auditor’s own signage is 
required to be posted in areas where the public and employees will have access to the 
proper contact information. Additionally, for purposes of grants received from the Paul 
Coverdell Forensic Science Improvement Grant Program through the National Institute of 
Justice, persons may contact the Office of Criminal Justice Programs directly. 



 

 

Hamilton County, TN  
 County Auditor’s Office 
Policies and Procedures 

 
 
 

SUBJECT: Independent External Investigations  PAGE 3 of 3 PAGES 
 
 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 
Nov. 1, 2015 

DATE ISSUED: 
Nov. 1, 2015 

DATE REVISED: APPROVED: 

 
 
 
 

The County Auditor’s Office will maintain written reports, records, and audit working 
paper files containing documentation and support of the investigation of all suspected 
cases of fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct. 

 
The following is contact information for reporting allegations of fraud, waste, abuse, or 
misconduct: 

 
• State Comptroller Hotline 1-800-232-5454 
• Office of Criminal Justice Programs 615-532-2983 
• County Auditor’s Office 423-209-6200 



No. 1015-54 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 

Hamilton County 
October 21, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE McKEE 

FOODS CORPORATION PROJECT, TO DELEGATE CERTAIN AUTHORITY 
TO THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND 
EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM 
TAXES. 

WHEREAS,     pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 7-53-305(b) Hamilton 
County (the "County") is permitted to delegate to The Industrial 
Development Board of Hamilton County, Tennessee (the 
"Corporation"), the authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of 
ad valorem taxes from lessees of the Corporation upon a finding by the 
County that such payments are deemed to be in furtherance of the 
Corporation's public purposes; and, 

WHEREAS, McKee Foods Corporation (the "Company") intends to expand it's 
headquarter facilities located in Collegedale, Hamilton County, 
Tennessee (the "City"), and to purchase certain equipment and other 
tangible personal property for its manufacturing plants located at 
10260 McKee Drive (Plant No. 2) and 10638 Apison Pike (Plant No. 5), 
both in the City, and, because of the substantial economic benefits to the 
County resulting from the project, the Company has asked the 
Corporation and the County 
to approve payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes; and 

WHEREAS, A form of Agreement for Payment In Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes has 
been submitted to the County and has been reviewed for legal sufficiency 
by counsel for the County; and 

WHEREAS, the Company expects to invest approximately Twenty-Four Million 
Dollars ($24,000,000) on a building and other improvements to real 



property ("Facility") and Seventy-Eight Million Five Hundred Thousand 
Dollars ($78,500,000) in new equipment and other personal property (the 
"Personal Property") by September 30, 2020, in the planned 
expansion; and

WHEREAS, the Company expects that when the expansion is completed and the new 
production lines are operational, this expansion will result in 
approximately fifty (50) full-time jobs with average annual wages, 
excluding benefits, of Forty-Three Thousand Eight Hundred and 
Forty-Three Dollars ($43,843); and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed that if its new investment in the Facility and 
Personal Property is less than the amounts described above, or if 
fewer full-time jobs than described above are created, the City and the 
County shall each have the right to amend the terms of this Agreement 
to reduce the tax abatements prospectively and require the repayment of 
a portion of any taxes previously abated; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined that payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from 
such a project would be in furtherance of the Corporation's public 
purposes as set forth within Chapter 53 of Title 7 of the Tennessee Code 
Annotated; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE 
BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 

That we do hereby find that the McKee Foods Corporation project described above is in the best 
interests of the County, and that payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes derived therefrom would 
be in furtherance of the Corporation's public purposes; and 

That, having made such a finding in this instance, we do hereby delegate to the Corporation the 
authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from the Company, it 
being further noted that this delegation is for this purpose and this project only; and 

That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into an Agreement for Payments In Lieu 
of Ad Valorem Taxes in substantially the form attached hereto, with such changes thereto as he 
shall approve. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: ☐

Rejected: 
☐

 

Approved: ☐

County Clerk 

Vetoed: 
☐

County Mayor 

October 21, 2015 
Date 



AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU 

OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENT IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

(this 

“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this ___ day of _____________________, 2015, by 

and among THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF 

HAMILTON, TENNESSEE (the “Board”); MCKEE FOODS CORPORATION, a Tennessee 

corporation (the “Company”); the CITY OF COLLEGEDALE, TENNESSEE (the “City”); and 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE (the “County”) and is joined in, for, among other 

reasons, the purposes of evidencing their acceptance of the agency relationship established 

herein, by BILL HULLANDER and his successors, acting in the capacity of HAMILTON 

COUNTY TRUSTEE (“Trustee”), and by WILLIAM C. BENNETT and his successors, acting 

in the capacity of HAMILTON COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY (“Assessor”). 

WHEREAS, the Company is constructing an addition to its headquarters facility located 

in Collegedale, Hamilton County, Tennessee and adding equipment to its manufacturing plant 

located at 10260 McKee Drive in Collegedale, Hamilton County, Tennessee, commonly referred 

to as Plant No. 2, and to its manufacturing plant located at 10638 Apison Pike, in Collegedale, 

Hamilton County, Tennessee, commonly referred to as Plant No. 5 (the “Project”), resulting in 

(a) an investment of approximately Twenty-Four Million Dollars ($24,000,000) in real property 

and Seventy-Eight Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($78,500,000) in personal property 

over a five-year period from October 1, 2015 – September 30, 2020; and (b) an increase in 

employment of approximately fifty (50) new, full time jobs having average annual wages, 

excluding benefits, of Forty-Three Thousand Eight Hundred and Forty-Three Dollars ($43,843) 



over a five-year period from October 1, 2015 – September 30, 2020, (the “Investment and Jobs 

Projection”), and has requested the Board’s assistance in the financing of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, substantial economic benefits to the Collegedale and County economies 

will be derived from the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has agreed to take title to certain real and personal property, as 

described in Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”), which Property is to be owned by the 

Board and leased or subleased to the Company; and 

WHEREAS, because the Property is to be owned by the Board, which is a public 

corporation organized under the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-101, et seq., all 

such property will be exempt from ad valorem property taxes (“Property Taxes”) normally paid 

to the City of Collegedale, the County and any other taxing bodies, so long as the Property is 

owned by the Board, pursuant to the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-305; and 

WHEREAS, for the public benefit of the citizens of the City and the County, the Board 

has requested that the Company make certain payments to the Board in lieu of the payment of 

Property Taxes that would otherwise be payable on the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has agreed to make such payments to the Board in lieu of the 

Property Taxes otherwise payable on the Property (the “In Lieu Payments”), as more particularly 

set forth hereinafter; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has been authorized to receive the In Lieu Payments in lieu of 

Property Taxes by resolutions adopted by the City and the County, acting through their duly 

elected Council and Commission, respectively, which resolutions delegate to the Board the 

authority to accept the In Lieu Payments upon compliance with certain terms and conditions, 



including, without limitation, the requirement that the Board collect and expend such payments 

in furtherance of the public purposes for which the Board was created; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Board have agreed that all In Lieu Payments made to the 

Board by the Company shall be paid to the Trustee, who shall disburse such amounts to the general funds 

of the City and the County in accordance with the requirements specified herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Assessor its agent to appraise the Property and 

assess a percentage of its value, under certain circumstances, in the manner specified herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to designate the Trustee its agent to receive the In Lieu Payments 

in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF

1. 

 the mutual covenants and agreements set 

forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property

2. 

.  The Board 

hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor 

shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State 

of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes, but shall not, in accordance 

with Section 11 of this Agreement, create a leasehold assessment for the Property so long as the 

Board owns the Property.  The Assessor shall give the Trustee, the [City Manager – confirm 

Collegedale office], the Board, and the Company notice of any changes in appraisals of the 

Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable property.  The Assessor 

shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating to the appraisal and 

assessment of the Property. 

Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  

The Board hereby designates the Trustee its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu 

Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to the 



City and the County.  On or about October 1st

3. 

 of said year, the Trustee shall compute the taxes 

which would be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes, in accordance with 

the Constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and in accordance with the appraisal and 

assessment of the Assessor.  Each year hereunder, the Trustee shall, not later than December 31, 

send the Board and the Company a bill for appropriate amounts of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax 

Bill”). 

Payments in Lieu of Taxes

4. (a)        

.  After receipt of the Tax Bill but no later than March 

1 of the year following the year to which the Tax Bill pertains, the Company shall pay to the 

Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill in accordance with the amount set forth below in 

Section 4.  The In Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property taxes 

which would otherwise be payable on the property if it were subject to Property Taxes.   

Amount of Payments by the Company

(a) 

.  For any period hereunder 

occurring before January 1, 2017 or after December 31, 2026, with respect to the Property, and, 

in each case, during which the Property is owned by the Board, the Company shall make In 

Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor and the Trustee, equal to the taxes 

that would have been payable on the Property if it were subject to Property Taxes. 

(1) 

Economic Development Lease Payment  

City of Collegedale. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in 

which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City general fund is less than 100%, an 

economic development lease payment (“EDP”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that 

would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as 

calculated by the Treasurer shall be computed and collected by the Treasurer; provided, 

however, in no event shall the total of the Company’s annual City general fund In Lieu Payments 



plus the EDP to the City exceed one hundred percent (100%) of City general fund taxes that 

would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  Beginning in 2017, 

this EDP will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and 

including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City general fund for such calendar 

year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that 

year’s EDP will be prorated.  The Treasurer shall add the EDP as a separate line item on the tax 

bill, and the Company shall pay the EDP for each such year during the term before March 1 of 

the following year.  Any failure to pay the EDP on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and 

late charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In 

Lieu Payments under this Agreement.  

The Treasurer shall disburse the City’s EDP to the City.  The City shall hold such funds 

to be used for economic development purposes, as directed by the Mayor of the City. 

(2) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in 

which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County general fund is less than 100%, an EDP 

to the County equal to 12.53% of the total of the County property taxes including the County 

school fund property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were 

subject to property taxes as calculated by the Trustee, shall be computed and collected by the 

Trustee.  In no event shall the total of the Company’s annual County In Lieu Payments plus the 

EDP to the County exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the County property taxes that would 

be assessed against the Project if it were subject to property taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this EDP 

will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if 

the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the 

Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s EDP will be prorated.  The 



Trustee shall add the EDP as a separate line item on the tax bill, and the Company shall pay the 

EDP for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay 

the EDP on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same 

manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement.  

The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the EDP from the School Portion 

of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the County’s EDP to the County, and the 

County shall hold such funds to be used for economic development purposes as directed by the 

Mayor of the County.  

(b) With respect to that portion of the Property as described in Exhibit A

City of Collegedale 

 that 

constitutes the “Project” (being the newly acquired real and personal property and improvements 

in connection with the 2015-2020 expansion of its Collegedale headquarters and manufacturing 

facilities), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to the following 

percentages of the taxes that would have been payable on the Property if it were subject to 

Property Taxes for the respective years indicated: 

Years  Percentage plus City EDP 

2017 

Total 

0%  15% 15% 

2018 25%  15% 40% 

2019 40%  15% 55% 

2020-2026 50%  15% 65% 

Hamilton County (For purposes of this Agreement, all references to County general fund 

taxes mean total County property taxes less the School portion.) 

 

 



 

Years 

General Fund 

Percentage 

HCDE 

Percentage 

County EDP*  

Percentage 

2017 0% 100% 12.53%  

2018 25% 100% 12.53%  

2019 40% 100% 12.53%  

2020-2026 50% 100% 12.53%  

 

(*) – The County EDP is computed as a percentage of the total County property tax 
 
 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the percentage amount of taxes to be paid 

to the Hamilton County Department of Education (“HCDE”) shall be adjusted annually in 

accordance with the tax rate of the County. 

(d) With respect to the portion of Property other than what is described above 

as the “Project,” the Company shall make In Lieu Payments for the years 2017-2026 in an 

amount equal to the taxes that would have been payable on said portion of the Property if it were 

subject to property taxes.  

5. Penalties and Late Charges

(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, and such 

failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of 

such non-payment has been provided, then a late charge shall be charged and shall also be 

immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and one-half percent 

(1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each month that each payment has been unpaid.  Such one and 

one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month late charge amount shall accumulate each month and be 

payable so long as there remains any outstanding unpaid amount. 

.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for 

each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to 

penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows: 



 

(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as 

provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County must, in order to enforce a lien 

against the Property as contemplated in Section 9, bring suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton 

County to recover the In Lieu Payments due, late charges, expenses and costs of collection in 

addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees.   

 

6. PILOT Projections Reporting

(a) In order to determine the extent to which the Company achieves the 

Investment and Jobs Projections upon which the In Lieu Payments have been calculated, 

Company shall complete and deliver for each calendar year during the term of this Agreement an 

Annual Report in the form attached hereto as 

.   

Exhibit B commencing after completion of the first 

full calendar year during which In Lieu Payments were paid by the Company. 

Minimum Requirements; Annual Review; Increase in Amount of In Lieu 

                                                                  (b)                         
Payments. 

Minimum Requirements.

percent (100%) of the Project goals as detailed on page 1 by January 1, 2021 (the "Determination 

Date") and during each calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period. For purposes of 

this Section, the “goals” equal Fifty (50) full-time jobs, and financial investments of $102,500,000 

(One Hundred Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars).  

 The Company must meet one hundred 

                        (c)  Annual Employment Review.

employment goals during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs or during in any 

calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve the right 

but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund In Lieu Payments applicable to 

the Project for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs by a percentage equal to 100% less 

 If the Company fails to achieve the  



 

the “Company’s  goals as applicable, for such calendar year (the “Job In Lieu Payment Percentage 

Increase”). The Company's goals for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a 

percentage, that the average number of full-time jobs actually maintained by the Company as applicable, 

bears to the goals. In no event shall the Company's annual general fund In Lieu Payments exceed one 

hundred percent (100%) of the general fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it 

were subject to property taxes. 

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2021 = 60  

Example 1: 

Minimum Job Requirement = 50 
No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2021 
(Minimum Job Requirement has been exceeded) 

Total number of full-time jobs as of January 1, 2021 = 40 
Example 2: 

Minimum Job Requirement = 50 

Company's Job Performance = 80% 
Job In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2021 = 20% 
(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2021 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 20%) 
 

           (d)        Annual Investment Review. If the Company fails to achieve the investment 

goals during the calendar year in which the Determination Date occurs or during in any 

calendar year thereafter during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve 

the right but are not obligated to increase the amount of the general fund In Lieu Payments 

applicable to the Project for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs by a 

percentage equal to 100% less the Company's goals as applicable, for such calendar year  

(the “Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase”). The Company’s goals, as applicable, 

for any calendar year means the proportion, expressed as a percentage, that the actual 



aggregate capital investment made by the Company through the end of such calendar year, 

including all capital investment made in the preceding calendar years in connection with the 

Project bears to the goals. In no event shall the Company’s annual General Fund In Lieu 

Payments exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the general fund taxes that would be 

assessed against the Project if it were subject to property taxes. 

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2021 = $120,000,000  

Example 3: 

Minimum Investment Requirement = $102,500,000 
No increase in In Lieu Payments for 2021 (Minimum Investment Requirement has 
been exceeded) 

Total amount of capital investment through January 1, 2021 = $92,250,000 
Minimum Investment Requirement = $102,500,000 

Example 4: 

Company’s Investment Performance = 90% 
Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase for 2021 = 10% 
(In Lieu Payment Percentages for 2021 for City General Fund and County 
General Fund may each be increased by 10%) 
 

Such formula shall be evaluated on an annual basis until the goals have been met or exceeded, 

whereupon no further evaluations or increase in the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to 

these Section 6(c) and (d) shall occur. 

(e)          Single Adjustment Regarding Tax Abatement; Issuance of 

Supplemental Bill to the Company. If both the annual employment review under Section 6(c) and 

the investment review under Section 6(d) for any calendar year indicate an increase in the In Lieu 

Payments for the same calendar year in which such failure occurs, and if the City and the County 

elect to increase the In Lieu Payments for such calendar year, then the City and the County shall 

determine whether the increase under Section 6(c) or Section 6(d) shall apply, which shall be the 

sole remedy for a shortfall in the Investment, Jobs and Wage Projection. The increase under Section 



 

6(c) and Section 6(d) shall not be combined. If the City and the County increase the amount of the In 

Lieu Payments pursuant to the annual employment review under Section 6(c) for any calendar year, 

then they may not, in the same year, also increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments pursuant to 

Section 6(d), and vice versa.  For example, using Examples 2 and 4 shown above, the City and 

the County may elect to either (i) increase the amount of the In Lieu Payments to the City General 

Fund and the County General Fund under Section 6(c) by 20% or (ii) increase the amount of the In 

Lieu Payments to the City General Fund and the County General Fund under Section 6(d) by 10%.  

In accordance with the foregoing and once a determination has been made of the Jobs In Lieu Payment 

Percentage Increase or the Investment In Lieu Payment Percentage Increase, whichever is 

determined to be applicable, the Treasurer and the Trustee shall compute the amount of the 

additional In Lieu Payment resulting therefrom and will issue a supplemental bill to the Company 

for that payment. 

(f)    Project Closure.

County during the Tax Abatement Period, the City and the County reserve the right to immediately 

terminate the tax abatements provided by this Agreement and require the partial repayment of 

amounts that would have been payable on the Property during the Tax Abatement Period as if it 

were subject to property taxes.   

 In the event the Project closes or moves from the  

7.  Disbursements by Trustee.  All sums received by the Trustee pursuant to Section 3 

shall be disbursed to the general funds of the City and the County in accordance with this Section 

7 and in accordance with the normal requirements of law governing the settlement and paying 

over of taxes to counties and municipalities.  All sums received shall be divided into two (2) 

accounts, one for the use and benefit of the City and the other for the use and benefit of the 

County.  The account for the use and benefit of the City shall be funded with the proportionate 



amount to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to Property Taxes which would otherwise 

be owed to the City, and the account for the use and benefit of the County shall be funded with 

the proportionate amount to which the In Lieu Payments are attributable to Property Taxes which 

would otherwise be owed to the County.  All disbursements to the general funds of the City and 

County shall be made by the Trustee subject to the requirement that all funds disbursed may be 

used by the City and the County only in furtherance of the public purposes of the Board, as 

described in Tennessee Code Annotated, § 7-53-102 and 7-53-302, et seq. 

8.   Contest by the Company

or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of the amount 

of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, then it shall 

present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  Likewise, if the Company contests any 

such computation, it shall present evidence to the Trustee in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu 

Payments being contested shall be or become due and payable, the Company shall make such 

payments under protest.  The Company and the Assessor or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall 

negotiate in good faith and with best efforts to resolve within sixty (60) days any disputes as to 

appraisal, assessment or computation.  If the Company and the Assessor or the Trustee are 

unable to resolve a dispute within such sixty (60) day period (as such period may be extended by 

the mutual written agreement of the parties), then the Company may file suit in the Chancery 

Court of Hamilton County to ask that the provisions of this Agreement, including those covering 

appraisal, assessment and computation, be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the 

Chancery Court in order to resolve such dispute. If a court of competent and final jurisdiction 

finds in favor of the Company and such judgment results in a lower appraisal, assessment or 

computation, the Company shall be entitled to a refund of In Lieu Payments as appropriate under 

.  The Company shall have the right to contest the appraisal  



the circumstances, with interest paid on such refund as if such refund were a refund of property 

taxes, in accordance with the Constitution, the laws of the State of Tennessee and any applicable 

local ordinances. If such a refund, including interest, is owed to the Company, the Company, at 

its option, may elect to forego the refund and take a credit in the amount of the refund (plus 

interest) against the next subsequent In Lieu payment due. 

9.   Lien on Property and Right of Redemption

under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable 

against the Property in the event that (i) there has been a judicial finding by a court of competent 

and final jurisdiction in accordance with Section 5(b) of this Agreement that such payment is 

owed and has not been timely made in accordance with this Agreement; and (ii) a court of 

competent and final jurisdiction has issued a ruling allowing for such enforcement of the lien 

against the Property. The City, County, Trustee and Assessor acknowledge and agree that if a 

lien is enforced against the Property in accordance with this Section 9, the Company or the 

Board, as the case may be, shall be re-vested with title to the Property affected by the lien if the 

Company repays the amount of the lien plus 10% interest no later than one (1) year from the date 

such lien is enforced. 

.  Any amounts which remain payable  

10.  Term

to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property or 

the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever shall later occur. 

.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board attains title  

11.  Leasehold Taxation

by the Company of a leasehold interest in the Property as is contemplated by this Agreement is 

not appropriate for the creation of a leasehold assessment in accordance with the Constitution, 

the laws of Tennessee and any applicable local ordinances. If the leasehold interest of the 

.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the acquisition  



Company should be subject to ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon 

shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due hereunder or, if no such In Lieu Payments are 

due, then the Company shall be entitled to a refund of any prior In Lieu Payments paid in an 

amount equal to the ad valorem taxation due attributable to such leasehold assessment. 

12.  Notices, etc.

written and mailed via registered or certified mail or delivered via overnight express courier, or 

sent via facsimile transmission to the following addresses:   

  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be  

If to the City:                          _______________________ 
_______________________ 
Collegedale, Tennessee 37315 

If to the County:                     Mr. Rheubin M. Taylor 
County Attorney 
Hamilton County Government 
Room 204 
County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

If to the Board:                       Mr. Ross I. Schram III 
Baker, Donelson 
1800 Republic Centre 
633 Chestnut Street 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 

If to the Company:                 Ms. Leisa Cagle  
McKee Foods Corporation 
10260 McKee Rd. 
Collegedale, TN  37315 

With copy to:                          Kurt J. Faires 
Chambliss, Bahner & Stophel, P.C. 
605 Chestnut St., Suite 1700 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450 

If to the Trustee:                     Trustee 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 



If to the Assessor:                   Assessor 
Hamilton County Courthouse 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37402 

or, as to each party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice 

to the other party.  All such notices and communications shall, when mailed by registered and 

certified mail, return receipt requested, or facsimile, be effective when deposited in the mails or 

if sent upon facsimile transmission, confirmed electronically, respectively, addressed as 

aforesaid. 

13.  No Waiver; Remedies

exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single 

or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise 

thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are 

cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. 

.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in  

14.  Severability

held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall 

not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be  

15.  No Liability of Board’s Officers

covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, 

member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, either directly 

or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at common law or 

in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, member, 

director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and 

consideration for the execution of this Agreement. 

.  No recourse under or upon any obligation,  

 



16.  Binding Effect

each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns. 

.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of  

17.  Governing Law

with, the laws of the State of Tennessee. 

.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance  

18.  Amendments

the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in 

amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder. 

.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of  

(signature page follows) 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 

and date first above written. 

THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD OF 
THE COUNTY OF HAMILTON, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:   
         Dan Mayfield, Chairman 

                                                                                  

 
 
MCKEE FOODS CORPORATION 
 
 
By:   
         Barry Patterson, Chief Financial Officer  

                                                                                  

 
 
CITY OF COLLEGEDALE, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:   
         Katie Lamb, Mayor 

                                                                                  

 
 
HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
 
 
By:   
         Jim Coppinger, County Mayor 

                                                                                  

 
 
HAMILTON COUNTY TRUSTEE 
 
 
By:   
         Bill Hullander 

                                                                                  

 
 
HAMILTON COUNTY ASSESSOR OF PROPERTY 
 
 
By:   
         William C. Bennett 

                                                                                  



EXHIBIT A 

 

TO PILOT AGREEMENT FOR 
MCKEE FOODS CORPORATION 

The real property and improvements at the McKee Foods Corporation headquarters in Collegedale, 
Hamilton County, Tennessee, referred to as the Headquarters Office Expansion and Conference Center, 
constructed in connection with the Company’s 2015-2020 Twenty-Four Million Dollar ($24,000,000) real 
property expansion. 

REAL PROPERTY 

 

 

All newly-acquired personal property placed by the Company in its manufacturing plants located at 
10260 McKee Drive, Collegedale, Hamilton County, Tennessee, commonly referred to as Plant No. 2, and 
10638 Apison Pike, Collegedale, Hamilton County, Tennessee, commonly referred to as Plant No. 5, in 
connection with its 2015-2020 Seventy-Eight Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollar ($78,500,000) 
manufacturing expansion. 

PERSONAL PROPERTY 

 



 



 

 
 



 
 


	10-21-15 Public Agenda Revised
	1015-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - September 30, 2015 _1880_09-30-15 Recessed
	1015-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - September 30, 2015 _1881_09-30-15 Agenda
	1015-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - October 6, 2015 _1882_10-06-15 Regular
	1015-_S_Report_Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon October 12, 2015_1861_Order of Designation Planning Commission Todd Leamon
	1015-25_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_1879_10-21-15
	1015-25_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_1879_10-21-15A
	1015-26_R_Sheriff Hammond_Port Security Grant 2015 Sheriff's Office_1863_PSG 2015
	1015-27_R_Sheriff Hammond_State Criminal Alien Assistance Program Grant 2015_1864_SCAAP 2015
	1015-28_R_Sheriff Hammond_Vehicle Computer Cradles_1870_RES. VEHICLE COMPUTER CRADLES
	1015-28_S_Sheriff Hammond_Vehicle Computer Cradles_1870_Vehicle Computer Cradles Contract
	1015-29A_R_Zoning_Zoning_1855_095A
	1015-29A_S_Zoning_Zoning_1855_0850_001
	1015-29B_R_Zoning_Zoning_1856_095B
	1015-29B_S_Zoning_Zoning_1856_0850_001
	1015-30A_R_Zoning_Zoning_1857_098A
	1015-30A_S_Zoning_Zoning_1857_0851_001
	1015-30B_R_Zoning_Zoning_1858_098B
	1015-30B_S_Zoning_Zoning_1858_0851_001
	1015-31_R_Zoning_Zoning_1859_104
	1015-31_S_Zoning_Zoning_1859_0852_001
	1015-32_R_Zoning_Zoning_1860_105
	1015-32_S_Zoning_Zoning_1860_0853_001
	1015-33_R_Commissioner Boyd_Appropriation for ArtsBuild_1851_Comm Boyd ArtsBuild
	1015-33_S_Commissioner Boyd_Appropriation for ArtsBuild_1851_0606_001
	1015-34_R_Bill McGriff_Contract unit pricing for Nortel Telephone Equipment_1869_RES. NORTEL TELEPHONE EQUIPMENT CONTRACT
	1015-34_S_Bill McGriff_Contract unit pricing for Nortel Telephone Equipment_1869_Nortel Telephone Equipment
	1015-35_R_Albert Kiser_Fleet Staff Sedans_1876_RES. MID-SIZE FLEET SEDANS
	1015-35_S_Albert Kiser_Fleet Staff Sedans_1876_Fleet Staff Sedans
	1015-36_R_Albert Kiser_Appropriation to the 28th Community Development Corporation_1884_Appropriation to the 28th CDC
	1015-36_S_Albert Kiser_Appropriation to the 28th Community Development Corporation_1884_Appropriation to the 28th CDC
	1015-37_R_Todd Leamon_Amend Resolution No 915 30 to update flood map dates_1871_A RESOLUTION TO REPEAL FLOOD MAPS
	1015-38_R_Todd Leamon_Sale Creek Middle High School Addition_1878_RES. SALE CREEK MIDDLE HIGH SCHOOL
	1015-38_S_Todd Leamon_Sale Creek Middle High School Addition_1878_Sale Creek Middle High School addition
	1015-39_R_Todd Leamon_Construction and special inspection testing_1883_RES. SALE CREEK MIDDLE HIGH SCHOOL GEO TESTING
	1015-39_S_Todd Leamon_Construction and special inspection testing_1883_Sale Creek Middle High School Addition Geo Testing
	1015-40_R_Becky Barnes_Laboratory Supplies Contract_1872_RES. LABORATORY SUPPLIES
	1015-40_S_Becky Barnes_Laboratory Supplies Contract_1872_Laboratory Supplies
	1015-41_R_Becky Barnes_General Office Supplies Contract_1873_RES. GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES
	1015-41_S_Becky Barnes_General Office Supplies Contract_1873_General Office Supplies
	1015-42_R_Becky Barnes_Printing and Paper Supply Contract_1874_RES. PRINTING AND PAPER SUPPLIES CONTRACT
	1015-42_S_Becky Barnes_Printing and Paper Supply Contract_1874_Printing and Paper Supplies
	1015-43_R_Becky Barnes_Infection Control Items_1875_RES. INFECTION CONTROL ITEMS CONTRACT
	1015-43_S_Becky Barnes_Infection Control Items_1875_Infection Control Items
	1015-44_R_Becky Barnes_Fifteen Passenger Van_1877_RES. ONE FIFTEEN PASSENGER VAN
	1015-44_S_Becky Barnes_Fifteen Passenger Van_1877_Fifteen passenger van
	1015-45_R_Don Allen_Community Corrections Advisory Board_1843_Community Corrections Advisory Board
	1015-45_S_Don Allen_Community Corrections Advisory Board_1843_Resume (09-21-15)
	1015-46_R_Don Allen_Type I Medium Duty Ambulances_1862_RES. (1) TYPE I MEDIUM DUTY AMBULANCE
	1015-46_S_Don Allen_Type I Medium Duty Ambulances_1862_(2) Type I Medium Duty Ambulances
	1015-47_R_Don Allen_Surplus Vehicle_1865_Dallas Bay van
	1015-48_R_Don Allen_Surplus Vehicle_1866_Sale Creek Amb.
	1015-49_R_Don Allen_Two Heavy Duty Cargo Vans_1867_RES. TWO (2) HEAVY DUTY CARGO VANS
	1015-49_S_Don Allen_Two Heavy Duty Cargo Vans_1867_Two Heavy Duty Cargo Vans
	1015-50_R_Don Allen_One Full Size Sedan_1868_RES. (1) FULL SIZE SEDAN
	1015-50_S_Don Allen_One Full Size Sedan_1868_(1) Full Size Sedan
	1015-51_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Chattanooga Boys Choir_1887_Chattanooga Boys Choir
	1015-51_S_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Chattanooga Boys Choir_1887_Boy Choir Fianancials
	1015-52_R_Commissioner Bankston_Appropriation for Hamilton County Special Tactics and Rescue Services_1888_Hamilton County STARS
	1015-53_R_Bill McGriff_Policy providing for Independent External Investigations into Allegations of Negligence or Misconduct._1890_Resolution 1015-53
	1015-53_S_Bill McGriff_Policy providing for Independent External Investigations into Allegations of Negligence or Misconduct._1890_Policy A-22 Hamilton County
	1015-54_R_Rheubin Taylor_the McKee Foods Corporation and the IDB_1905_1015-5454_R_Rheubin Taylor_The McKee Corporation and the IDB_1903_McKee Resolution 102815
	1015-54_S_Rheubin Taylor_the McKee Foods Corporation and the IDB_1905_1015-5454_S_Rheubin Taylor_The McKee Corporation and the IDB_1903_McKEE PILOT AGREEMENT (FINAL)
	1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and ...
	2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board hereby designates the Trustee its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments...
	3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill but no later than March 1 of the year following the year to which the Tax Bill pertains, the Company shall pay to the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill in accordance with the amo...
	4. (a)        Amount of Payments by the Company.  For any period hereunder occurring before January 1, 2017 or after December 31, 2026, with respect to the Property, and, in each case, during which the Property is owned by the Board, the Company shall...
	(a) Economic Development Lease Payment
	(1) City of Collegedale. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City general fund is less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (“EDP”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that would...
	(2) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County general fund is less than 100%, an EDP to the County equal to 12.53% of the total of the County property taxes including the Count...

	(b) With respect to that portion of the Property as described in Exhibit A that constitutes the “Project” (being the newly acquired real and personal property and improvements in connection with the 2015-2020 expansion of its Chattanooga headquarters ...
	(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the percentage amount of taxes to be paid to the Hamilton County Department of Education (“HCDE”) shall be adjusted annually in accordance with the tax rate of the County.
	(d) With respect to the portion of Property other than what is described above as the “Project,” the Company shall make In Lieu Payments for the years 2017-2026 in an amount equal to the taxes that would have been payable on said portion of the Proper...

	5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:
	(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, and such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of such non-payment has been provided, then a late charge shall be charged and sha...
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County must, in order to enforce a lien against the Property as contemplated in Section 9, bring suit in the Chancery Court...

	6. PILOT Projections Reporting.
	(a) In order to determine the extent to which the Company achieves the Investment and Jobs Projections upon which the In Lieu Payments have been calculated, Company shall complete and deliver for each calendar year during the term of this Agreement an...

	8.   Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the appraisal
	or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position. ...
	9.   Lien on Property and Right of Redemption.  Any amounts which remain payable
	under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that (i) there has been a judicial finding by a court of competent and final jurisdiction in accordance with Section 5(b) of...
	10.  Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board attains title
	to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property or the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever shall later occur.
	11.  Leasehold Taxation.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the acquisition
	by the Company of a leasehold interest in the Property as is contemplated by this Agreement is not appropriate for the creation of a leasehold assessment in accordance with the Constitution, the laws of Tennessee and any applicable local ordinances. I...
	12.  Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be
	written and mailed via registered or certified mail or delivered via overnight express courier, or sent via facsimile transmission to the following addresses:
	13.  No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in
	exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies pr...
	14.  Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be
	held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	15.  No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation,
	covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, either directly or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of ever...
	16.  Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of
	each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	17.  Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance
	with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	18.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of
	the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder.

	ADP3E4.tmp
	1. Designation of Assessor; Appraisal and Assessment of Property.  The Board hereby designates the Assessor as its agent to appraise and assess the Property.  The Assessor shall appraise and assess the Property in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee as though the Property were subject to property taxes, but shall not, in accordance with Section 11 of this Agreement, create a leasehold assessment for the Property so long as the Board owns the Property.  The Assessor shall give the Trustee, the [City Manager – confirm Collegedale office], the Board, and the Company notice of any changes in appraisals of the Property in the same manner that notices are given to owners of taxable property.  The Assessor shall make available to the Board and the Company all records relating to the appraisal and assessment of the Property.
	2. Designation of Trustee; Computation and Billing of Payments In Lieu of Taxes.  The Board hereby designates the Trustee its agent to compute the amounts of the In Lieu Payments, to receive such payments from the Company and to disburse such payments to the City and the County.  On or about October 1st of said year, the Trustee shall compute the taxes which would be payable on the Property if it were subject to property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and in accordance with the appraisal and assessment of the Assessor.  Each year hereunder, the Trustee shall, not later than December 31, send the Board and the Company a bill for appropriate amounts of In Lieu Payments (the “Tax Bill”).
	3. Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  After receipt of the Tax Bill but no later than March 1 of the year following the year to which the Tax Bill pertains, the Company shall pay to the Trustee the amounts indicated on the Tax Bill in accordance with the amount set forth below in Section 4.  The In Lieu Payments shall be made by the Company in lieu of the property taxes which would otherwise be payable on the property if it were subject to Property Taxes.  
	4. (a)        Amount of Payments by the Company.  For any period hereunder occurring before January 1, 2017 or after December 31, 2026, with respect to the Property, and, in each case, during which the Property is owned by the Board, the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount, as determined by the Assessor and the Trustee, equal to the taxes that would have been payable on the Property if it were subject to Property Taxes.
	(a) Economic Development Lease Payment 
	(1) City of Collegedale. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City general fund is less than 100%, an economic development lease payment (“EDP”) equal to 15% of the City property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as calculated by the Treasurer shall be computed and collected by the Treasurer; provided, however, in no event shall the total of the Company’s annual City general fund In Lieu Payments plus the EDP to the City exceed one hundred percent (100%) of City general fund taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to general fund taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this EDP will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the City general fund for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s EDP will be prorated.  The Treasurer shall add the EDP as a separate line item on the tax bill, and the Company shall pay the EDP for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay the EDP on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement. 
	(2) Hamilton County. For each calendar year beginning with 2017 in which the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County general fund is less than 100%, an EDP to the County equal to 12.53% of the total of the County property taxes including the County school fund property taxes that would otherwise be payable for such year on the Project if it were subject to property taxes as calculated by the Trustee, shall be computed and collected by the Trustee.  In no event shall the total of the Company’s annual County In Lieu Payments plus the EDP to the County exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the County property taxes that would be assessed against the Project if it were subject to property taxes.  Beginning in 2017, this EDP will be paid for each year that the Property is owned by the Board through and including 2026 if the In Lieu Payment Percentage as to the County for such calendar year is less than 100%.  If the Board’s ownership ceases during any calendar year, then that year’s EDP will be prorated.  The Trustee shall add the EDP as a separate line item on the tax bill, and the Company shall pay the EDP for each such year during the term before March 1 of the following year.  Any failure to pay the EDP on or before March 1 shall result in penalties and late charges calculated in the same manner as penalties and late charges are calculated for In Lieu Payments under this Agreement. 


	The Trustee shall not deduct any part of the EDP from the School Portion of the In Lieu Payments.  The Trustee shall disburse the County’s EDP to the County, and the County shall hold such funds to be used for economic development purposes as directed by the Mayor of the County. 
	(b) With respect to that portion of the Property as described in Exhibit A that constitutes the “Project” (being the newly acquired real and personal property and improvements in connection with the 2015-2020 expansion of its Collegedale headquarters and manufacturing facilities), the Company shall make In Lieu Payments in an amount equal to the following percentages of the taxes that would have been payable on the Property if it were subject to Property Taxes for the respective years indicated:
	(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the percentage amount of taxes to be paid to the Hamilton County Department of Education (“HCDE”) shall be adjusted annually in accordance with the tax rate of the County.
	(d) With respect to the portion of Property other than what is described above as the “Project,” the Company shall make In Lieu Payments for the years 2017-2026 in an amount equal to the taxes that would have been payable on said portion of the Property if it were subject to property taxes. 

	5. Penalties and Late Charges.  The Company shall make the In Lieu Payments for each year before March 1 of the following year.  All In Lieu Payments shall be subject to penalties, late charges, fees and interest charges as follows:
	(a) If the Company fails to make any In Lieu Payment when due, and such failure to pay shall continue and not be fully paid within thirty (30) days after written notice of such non-payment has been provided, then a late charge shall be charged and shall also be immediately due and payable.  The late charge shall be in the amount of one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) of the owed amount, for each month that each payment has been unpaid.  Such one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month late charge amount shall accumulate each month and be payable so long as there remains any outstanding unpaid amount.
	(b) If the Company should fail to pay all amounts and late charges due as provided hereinabove, then the Board, the City or the County must, in order to enforce a lien against the Property as contemplated in Section 9, bring suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to recover the In Lieu Payments due, late charges, expenses and costs of collection in addition to reasonable attorneys’ fees.  

	6. PILOT Projections Reporting.  
	(a) In order to determine the extent to which the Company achieves the Investment and Jobs Projections upon which the In Lieu Payments have been calculated, Company shall complete and deliver for each calendar year during the term of this Agreement an Annual Report in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B commencing after completion of the first full calendar year during which In Lieu Payments were paid by the Company.

	8.   Contest by the Company.  The Company shall have the right to contest the appraisal 
	or assessment of the Property by the Assessor and the computation by the Trustee of the amount of the In Lieu Payment.  If the Company contests any such appraisal or assessment, then it shall present evidence to the Assessor in favor of its position.  Likewise, if the Company contests any such computation, it shall present evidence to the Trustee in favor of its position.  If the In Lieu Payments being contested shall be or become due and payable, the Company shall make such payments under protest.  The Company and the Assessor or the Trustee, as the case may be, shall negotiate in good faith and with best efforts to resolve within sixty (60) days any disputes as to appraisal, assessment or computation.  If the Company and the Assessor or the Trustee are unable to resolve a dispute within such sixty (60) day period (as such period may be extended by the mutual written agreement of the parties), then the Company may file suit in the Chancery Court of Hamilton County to ask that the provisions of this Agreement, including those covering appraisal, assessment and computation, be construed or applied to the relevant facts by the Chancery Court in order to resolve such dispute. If a court of competent and final jurisdiction finds in favor of the Company and such judgment results in a lower appraisal, assessment or computation, the Company shall be entitled to a refund of In Lieu Payments as appropriate under the circumstances, with interest paid on such refund as if such refund were a refund of property taxes, in accordance with the Constitution, the laws of the State of Tennessee and any applicable local ordinances. If such a refund, including interest, is owed to the Company, the Company, at its option, may elect to forego the refund and take a credit in the amount of the refund (plus interest) against the next subsequent In Lieu payment due.
	9.   Lien on Property and Right of Redemption.  Any amounts which remain payable 
	under this Agreement shall become a lien on the Property, and such lien shall be enforceable against the Property in the event that (i) there has been a judicial finding by a court of competent and final jurisdiction in accordance with Section 5(b) of this Agreement that such payment is owed and has not been timely made in accordance with this Agreement; and (ii) a court of competent and final jurisdiction has issued a ruling allowing for such enforcement of the lien against the Property. The City, County, Trustee and Assessor acknowledge and agree that if a lien is enforced against the Property in accordance with this Section 9, the Company or the Board, as the case may be, shall be re-vested with title to the Property affected by the lien if the Company repays the amount of the lien plus 10% interest no later than one (1) year from the date such lien is enforced.
	10.  Term.  This Agreement shall become effective on the date that the Board attains title 
	to the Property and shall continue for so long as the Board holds title to any of the Property or the Company has made all payments required hereunder, whichever shall later occur.
	11.  Leasehold Taxation.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the acquisition 
	by the Company of a leasehold interest in the Property as is contemplated by this Agreement is not appropriate for the creation of a leasehold assessment in accordance with the Constitution, the laws of Tennessee and any applicable local ordinances. If the leasehold interest of the Company should be subject to ad valorem taxation, then any amounts assessed as taxes thereon shall be credited against any In Lieu Payments due hereunder or, if no such In Lieu Payments are due, then the Company shall be entitled to a refund of any prior In Lieu Payments paid in an amount equal to the ad valorem taxation due attributable to such leasehold assessment.
	12.  Notices, etc.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be 
	written and mailed via registered or certified mail or delivered via overnight express courier, or sent via facsimile transmission to the following addresses:  
	13.  No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of any party hereto, and no delay in 
	exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and are not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.
	14.  Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement shall be 
	held to be invalid by any court or jurisdiction, the invalidity of any such clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
	15.  No Liability of Board’s Officers.  No recourse under or upon any obligation, 
	covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement shall be had against any incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, of the Board, whether past, present or future, either directly or through the Board.  Any and all personal liability of every nature, whether at common law or in equity, or by statute or by constitution or otherwise, of any such incorporator, member, director or officer, as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a condition of and consideration for the execution of this Agreement.
	16.  Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of 
	each of the parties and signatories hereto and to their respective successors and assigns.
	17.  Governing Law.  The Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance 
	with, the laws of the State of Tennessee.
	18.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only in writing, signed by each of 
	the parties hereto, except that the Trustee and the Assessor shall not be required to join in amendments unless such amendments affect their respective duties hereunder.




